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Facts 2016
With turnover of over NOK 26 billion and a new sales record, 2016  
is the seventh year in a row with growth. In addition to continued  
excellent ratings in customer satisfaction surveys, 2016 was  
also our best sales year ever.

MøllerGruppen achieved its best result 
ever in 2016. We are the leading auto 
group in the Nordic countries and the 
Baltics and have established ourselves 
as one of the largest automotive busi-
nesses in northern Europe. Our goal is 
to be largest and best in our markets.

We achieved growth in all our busi-
ness areas and excellent financial re-

sults, with a combined profit of almost 
NOK 1.2 billion. Our scores on customer 
satisfaction surveys remain very high.

We had our best sales year ever with 
a new record in Norway of 52,316 reg-
istered vehicles, and new records in the 
Baltics, Sweden and for used vehicles. 
Volkswagen was Norway’s best-selling 
passenger car make for the seventh year 

running, and we defended our position 
as market leader in chargeable cars.

MøllerGruppen celebrated 80 years 
as a company, and on 1 January 2017 
Terje Male took over as the new CEO 
after Pål Syversen, who retired after 
13 years at the helm. Volkswagen was 
voted Importer of the Year in Norway 
(BilNytt’s customer satisfaction survey).
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2016 in numbers

Employees in Norway, Sweden and the Baltics

Cars sold. All brands in all our markets – up 4.5% from 2015

Turnover for the year (NOK billions)

4,274

61,161
26.4
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This is MøllerGruppen

MøllerGruppen is a family owned group involved in the import, 
sale, servicing and financing of Volkswagen, Audi and ŠKODA cars. 
The company is represented in Norway, Sweden and the Baltic States.

CAR IMPORTS
Harald A. Møller AS is Norway’s largest 
car importer. The company is responsi-
ble for importing, distributing and ser-
vicing Volkswagen, Audi and ŠKODA 
cars in Norway. More than one in every 
four new cars sold in Norway has been 
imported by Harald A. Møller AS. Møller 
Baltic Import SE imports Volkswagen 
into Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania, and 
Audi into Latvia and Lithuania.

CAR DEALERS
MøllerGruppen has a total of 68 car 
dealers in Norway, Sweden, Estonia, 
Latvia and Lithuania. Møller Bil Norge 
is Norway’s largest car dealer chain and 
has 42 dealers and nine specialized re-
pair workshops throughout the country. 
Møller Bil Sverige is Sweden’s second 
largest Volkswagen, Audi, Škoda and 
Seat dealer group and has a total of 12 
sales outlets in central Sweden. Moller 
Auto Baltic has 14 sales outlets in Es-
tonia, Latvia and Lithuania.

FINANCIAL SERVICES
Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS is 
jointly owned by MøllerGruppen (49%) 
and Volkswagen Financial Services 
AG (51%). The company offers loans, 
leasing and hire-purchase products, 
and insurance linked to the respective 
brands’ sales of new and used cars.

A fully integrated part of the Volks-
wagen, Audi and Škoda value chain in 
Norway, Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans is 
Norway’s largest leasing company and 
is especially dominant on the private car 
leasing market.

Our reports

Car Import
Harald A. Møller AS
Møller Baltic Import

Car dealers  
Møller Auto Baltic

Financial Services
Volkswagen Møller

Bilfinans

Car dealers
Møller Bil Sverige

Car dealers
Møller Bil Norge

MøllerGruppen
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MøllerGruppen presents its report for 2016 in two parts: 
“MøllerGruppen in brief 2016” and a full annual report 
containing statutory information and reporting, includ-
ing a GRI report. These can all be downloaded in PDF 
format from: 
www.moller.no/en/About/Annual-reports

www.moller.no
Here you can also find updated information providing a 
complete overview of MøllerGruppen’s operations. 
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OUR GOAL IS 
TO BE LARGEST 

AND BEST



CEO TERJE MALE
Terje Male (52) took over as CEO of 
MøllerGruppen on 1 January 2017.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

THE SHARING ECONOMY

NEW TECHNOLOGY

DIGITALISATION
 

THE MAIN CHALLENGE GOING FORWARDS will be dealing with everything that is happening 
right now – all at the same time. One thing we are sure of is that the automotive industry is about 
to face some major and profound changes. Senior executives within the automotive industry have 
themselves stated that they think the industry will change more in the next five to ten years than it 
has in the last 100 years. We are facing a number of so-called megatrends: powerful forces that 
challenge the existing value chain made up of manufacturers, wholesalers and retailers.

Fleets will become increasingly electrified, vehicles will be connected to the inter-
net, and, in the longer term, they will also become self-driving. We are currently 
undergoing a digital transformation. However, the vehicles themselves are 
only part of the picture. Requirements regarding environmental pro-
tection and sustainable development, both in production and use, 
are becoming ever stricter. At the same time we are seeing an 
emerging sharing economy that will revolutionise the way 
consumers organise their car use in the future. In light 
of the rapidly growing global population, global 
warming and widespread urbanisation, at the 
same time as the internet is changing the 
established business models, most 
people recognise the need for 
good leadership and robust 
strategies.

Preparing for change

MøllerGruppen achieved its best-ever results in 2016, and we are now 
the leading auto group in the Nordic and Baltic regions and have 
established ourselves as one of the largest automotive businesses in 
northern Europe.
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WE ARE ALREADY well under way 
with the digitalisation of our sales chan-
nels. Pilot projects were completed for 
all the makes in 2016. Now the online 
sales channels are to be further ex-
panded, and we are currently work-
ing on a total of four channels. Online 
sales of new cars will continue as be-
fore, while the webshop for accesso-
ries is going to be expanded. We are 
also working on a solution for the sale 
of used cars through separate chan-
nels and online booking of workshop 
appointments. The first pilot for online 
sales of used cars has been operation-
al since late February. Used cars is the 
segment with the greatest potential, 
as there are fewer barriers for online 
trade. Online sales opens opportunities 
to add links to other items the custom-
er needs, such as the correct acces-
sories, aftersales and maintenance 
agreements, insurance and financing.

The long-term goal is also to win 
back major parts of the value chain 

that the brand dealers have until re-
cently left to other providers. A major 
challenge is the declining potential in 
the servicing market. Electrification of 
vehicles means cars will have different 
servicing needs. They come with ever 
better assistance systems, preventing 
collisions, and will eventually become 
autonomous. It is therefore more im-
portant to look at what strategies we 
need to ensure we get enough jobs. 
We must focus on taking better care of 
older cars and selling other services to 
seal the gaps in the supply chain and 
retain our current markets. We have al-
ready seen that if we design the online 
purchase process correctly, twice as 
many people buy a service and main-
tenance contract online. Sales of cus-
tomised options and accessories are 
also increasing dramatically.

The emerging sharing economy and 
new purchasing and use patterns will 
have a huge impact on our value chain, 
but will also pave the way for new op-

portunities. Based on our experience 
from selling cars online over the past 
year, we estimate that 10–15% of our 
customers are ready for a wholly digi-
tal purchase process. This means that 
the market is not yet fully mature, but 
in this context we have only looked at 
megatrend digitalisation in isolation. 
However, if we also take into account 
the fact that cars are changing (they 
will become autonomous, electric and 
connected), we end up with a situation 
where the customers are actually go-
ing to be buying a completely different 
product compared with previously. We 
therefore believe that many things will 
change.

Another identifiable trend is that 
many young people want to buy the 
service “mobility” rather than the prod-
uct “car.” We therefore believe car shar-
ing and car pooling using smartphones 
will be significantly more common than 
it is today, and that things will change 
rapidly. Technology like keyless hand-

MøllerGruppen is currently the largest player in its markets. We intend 
to retain this position. Our new proactive strategy maps our plans for 
the years up to 2020.

Our strategy going forwards

MOBILITY
DIGITALISATION

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

Mobility, digitalisation 
and sustainable solutions 

are the industry’s main drivers 
going forwards – in addition to 

conventional car sales.
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over and autonomous vehicles are 
the future. However, even shared cars 
will have to be delivered and serviced 
somewhere. Perhaps this will be a larg-
er part of the dealer’s role in the future.

The Volkswagen Group has estab-
lished the company MOIA to develop 
mobility services.

MøllerGruppen has started looking 
at solutions where we can offer our 
customers a platform for sharing their 
car. This is currently still in the develop-
ment stage, but the main strategy is to 
identify our place in a future car shar-
ing and mobility solution. The platforms 
that exist today are growing rapidly, but 
there is currently little profit to be made 
from them.

We have noticed that some people 
are concerned that in the longer term 
increased digitalisation may pose a 
threat to the dealer network. We do 
not share this fear. We are sure that the 
dealerships will remain. We are also 

confident that customers will continue 
to visit showrooms, although visits will 
take place in a different way and will 
be more integrated with the digital solu-
tions. The final part of the automotive 
value chain is the most complex and 
therefore very difficult to replace by a 
digital solution. Cars take up space. 
They need to be serviced, repaired and 
washed. Dealerships also take in used 
cars. There will always have to be an 
apparatus for that part of the logistics. 
And we must continue to focus on the 
customer. Customer satisfaction re-
mains at the top of our agenda.

It is our firm opinion that this strategy 
is a good response to the challenges 
we face. We must be prepared for chal-
lenges and need to accelerate our abil-
ity to change and intensify our focus in 
some areas. We have good managers 
and employees, and we will deliver on 
our targets and strategy.

Volkswagen AG is currently building 

the world’s largest battery factory and 
will launch 30 new electric car models 
over the next ten years. With this factory 
in place, we will be well equipped to 
position ourselves at the forefront in the 
competition with new and established 
auto businesses. One of our strategic 
objectives is therefore still to be best at 
chargeable solutions.

The Volkswagen Group has launched 
a strategy for the factory called “ Together 
2025”, highlighting an offensive focus 
on new mobility solutions – across all 
brands. Mobility, digitalisation and sus-
tainable solutions are the industry’s main 
drivers going forwards – in addition to 
conventional car sales. The fact that the 
factory is among the first to head in a 
new direction means MøllerGruppen is 
well equipped to meet the changes.

Strategy 2020 is MøllerGruppen’s 
response to the opportunities 

and challenges ahead.

OUR STRATEGIC FOCUS AREAS:
•  Further develop our aftersales market with new products and 

services
•  Strengthen our used car business
•  Further develop our digital tools and streamline our core 

processes
•  More integrated car ownership solutions
•  Digitalisation of cars and car ownership products – digital 

customer journey
•  Understand and develop MøllerGruppen’s position within new 

mobility services
•  Continued customer satisfaction at the top of the agenda

MØLLERGRUPPEN / ANNUAL AND CSR REPORT 2016 
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MøllerGruppen: Largest and best

THE FACTORY
Volkswagen Group is the world’s largest automaker.
The group has formulated a new strategy, “Together 2025”, 
where half of the business will be as we know it today, while 
the other half will focus on new areas. Mobility, digitalisation 
and sustainable development are the main drivers.

The requirements for future 
mobility will transform the 
automotive industry’s business 
models, and Volkswagen shall 
be at the forefront.

MøllerGruppen has collaborated with Volkswagen AG since 
1948, and the factory’s strategy has also inspired 
MøllerGruppen’s strategy and operations.

cars imported in 2016cars manufactured by Volkswagen AG in 2016

61,161 10million

THE IMPORTERS
MøllerGruppen has two import companies:
Harald A. Møller in Norway and Møller Baltic Import.

Harald A. Møller imports the brands Volkswagen, Volks wagen 
Commercial Vehicles, Audi and Škoda in Norway, while 
Møller Baltic Import imports Audi in Latvia and Lithuania and 
Volkswagen in Latvia, Lithuania and Estonia.

Through their market expertise and financial strength, the 
importers provide the dealers with the power to succeed.

Volkswagen and Volkswagen Com-
mercial Vehicles shall be the biggest 
brands in all MøllerGruppen’s markets.

Audi shall be the leader in the premium 
segment in all our market areas.

Škoda has experienced strong growth 
in recent years. Škoda will grow to 
achieve a 7.5% market share in Norway 
and Sweden.
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new cars sold in Norway, Sweden and the Baltics in 2016 customers in 2016

27,884
27,157

46,494 750,000

THE DEALERS
Møller Bil and Møller Auto are responsible for sales and 
aftersales service of our brands in Norway, Sweden, Lith-
uania, Latvia and Estonia. The goals for our 68 dealers are 
to increase customer satisfaction, focus more strongly on 
the aftersales market, strengthen employee satisfaction and 
fully exploit the potential of the Møller Bil brand.

FINANCING
Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans contributes to the dealers’ 
success by offering competitive financing products

THE CUSTOMERS
MøllerGruppen has more than 500,000 customer en-
counters each year. Our customers are our most important 
investment, meaning all MøllerGruppen employees must 
create the best customer experiences every single day. Our 
core values translated into practice are an important foun-
dation for creating positive experiences – for the customer 
and MøllerGruppen alike.

We shall always strive to provide our customers with the very 
best solutions, and it is important for us to address the cus-
tomers’ requirements for future mobility.

NORWAY
Møller Bil is Norway’s 
largest car dealer chain 
with 42 dealerships. 2466 
employees contribute to 
the company’s results.

SWEDEN
Møller Bil is Sweden’s 
second largest dealer 
group within Volkswagen, 
Audi, Škoda and Seat with 
12 dealerships and 653 
employees.

ESTONIA
Møller Auto has five dealer-
ships and 178 employees.

LATVIA
Møller Auto has five dealer-
ships and 217 employees.

LITHUANIA
Møller Auto has four deal-
erships in Lithuania, with a 
total of 211 employees.

cars insured

cars financed
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OUR CUSTOMERS 
ARE ALWAYS OUR 
MOST IMPORTANT 

INVESTMENT
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Although digital solutions simplify our everyday lives in many ways, the human communication 
between us and the customer remains fundamental to our success.

MøllerGruppen’s major investments in digital customer solutions require enterprising 
 employees with expertise in line with the new commercial opportunities. Digital knowledge 
will therefore become increasingly important.

We shall meet the competition in the aftersales market with customer-oriented 
products and services. We shall seal gaps in the supply chain with flexible, 
customer-friendly service concepts, efficient operations, low costs and 
additional services that simplify car ownership for the customer. 

 
    

An appropriate structure

The customer always comes first in MøllerGruppen. 
We are currently working on establishing a strong 
interaction between the customers, digital solutions and 
MøllerGruppen in the sales and service processes. 

11
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OUR BRANDS ARE A UNIQUE STRENGTH
In 2016 Harald A. Møller set a new sales record of almost 
NOK 13.5 billion. We also achieved an excellent financial re-
sult of NOK 712 million. In addition, the results of our cus-
tomer satisfaction surveys are stable and good, and we have 
a combined market share of 26.5% of the passenger car 
market in Norway. Volkswagen was Norway’s best-selling 
brand for the 11th consecutive year and is the number one 
passenger car in every county.

Further highlights include the best year ever for Škoda with 
7,774 registered vehicles, the second-best year for Audi in 
Norway with 7,653 registered vehicles and a very good year 
for Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles, with 10,315 registered 
vehicles and a market share of 28.6%.

  
IMMINENT CHANGES
For many years our brands have given us a competitive edge. 
A portfolio of models that match the customers’ needs is our 
undisputed strength and will remain so in the future.  Our 
confidence is based on the fact that all our makes are now 
launching new strategies to address the changes ahead. For 
example, the Volkswagen Group has stated that in the future 
only half of its business will be as we know it today; the other 
half will focus on new mobility needs, such as car sharing.

This will affect our everyday operations. We will have to 
change to ensure we continue to offer market-appropriate 

Report from Harald A Møller AS

U
L
F
 T

O
R

E
 H

E
K

N
E

B
Y

M
A

N
A

G
IN

G
 D

IR
EC

TO
R

 
H

A
R

A
LD

 A
. M

Ø
LL

ER
 A

S

transport solutions. MøllerGruppen is therefore investing 
heavily in digital customer solutions. We are also focusing 
on developing our employees’ skills in line with the new com-
mercial opportunities. We must all be prepared to acquire 
new, business-critical knowledge. 

Volkswagen AG is currently building the world’s largest bat-
tery factory and will launch 30 new electric car models over the 
next ten years. Once this is in place, we will be well equipped 
to position ourselves at the forefront in the competition with 
new and established auto businesses. One of our strategic 
objectives is therefore still to be best at chargeable solutions. • New sales record of over NOK 13.5 billion

• Steady, good customer satisfaction survey scores
• Combined market share for passenger cars in Norway of 26.5%

13.5 billion NOK

“Volkswagen AG is currently building the world’s largest 
battery factory and will launch 30 new electric car 
models over the next ten years.” Harald A. Møller is Norway’s largest car importer

12
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• Turnover of NOK 14.6 billion
•  Establishment of our first joint used-car centre with sales and  

preparation for several dealers in Bergen

17,978 second-hand

29,044 new

“Our success depends on our 
co-workers in the sales and 
aftersales departments. It 
is out in the dealerships and 
workshops that customers 
are won.”

Møller Bil is Norway’s largest car dealer chain. 

Report from Møller Bil AS

CUSTOMER FOCUS AT MØLLER BIL AS
2016 was an excellent year for Møller Bil with its best ever fi-
nancial results. Sales totalled NOK 14.4 billion, yielding a profit 
margin of 2.9% for the dealers. All the departments achieved 
record high sales figures, with sales of new and used cars 
accounting for the greatest growth. It is especially pleasing 
to see that dealers that have previously returned weak results 
reported the greatest financial progress this year.

We have improved our market position for Škoda, used 
cars and repairs, and have maintained our excellent perfor-
mance for Volkswagen and Audi. We sold a total of 29,044 
new cars and 17,978 used cars – also an improvement on 
last year. We have established our first joint used-car centre 
with sales and preparation for several dealers in Bergen, as 
well as piloting the new “Quick Service” workshop concept. 
In addition, we have built our biggest dedicated tyre hotel 
(16,000 tyres / wheels), opened a brand new Volkswagen 
plant in Stjørdal, opened a brand new complete Volkswagen 
and Audi plant in Follo, and bought the Volkswagen and Ško-
da dealer Orkdal Bil. All in all it has been a good year for us. 

DIGITAL CUSTOMER SOLUTIONS
The customer always comes first in MøllerGruppen. We are 
currently working on establishing a strong interaction be-
tween the customers, digital solutions and MøllerGruppen 
in the sales and service processes going forwards. Although 
digital solutions simplify our everyday lives in many ways, 
the human communication between us and the customer 
remains fundamental to our success.

MøllerGruppen’s major investments in digital customer 
solutions require enterprising employees with expertise in line 
with the new commercial opportunities. Digital knowledge will 

therefore become increasingly important.
We shall meet the competition in the aftersales market 

with customer-oriented products and services. We shall seal 
gaps in the supply chain with flexible, customer-friendly ser-
vice concepts, efficient operations, low costs and additional 
services that simplify car ownership for the customer.    

Our success depends on our co-workers in the sales and 
aftersales departments. It is out in the dealerships and work-
shops that customers are won. It is here that we really prove 
how good we are.

Talented employees, good digital solutions and market-ap-
propriate services and products will help us retain our posi-
tion as largest and best.

13
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•  Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans is Norway’s largest car leasing company 
with over 20% of the car leasing market

•  65,679 contracts in the portfolio
•  2016 was the best year ever, with a profit before tax of NOK 344 

million. A total of 27,157 new contracts were signed in 2016

20% market share
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“Volkswagen Møller Bil-
finans is currently Norway’s 
largest car leasing company 
and is especially dominant 
on the private car leasing 
 market. There is a clear trend 
in  society away from owning 
and towards leasing.”

Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans is Norway’s largest 
leasing company.

AN IMPORTANT PART OF THE SUCCESS
Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans is Norway’s largest leasing com-
pany. The company had its best year ever in 2016 with a profit 
before tax of NOK 344 million. In 2017 the company intends 
to grow further. Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans is a fully integrat-
ed and important part of the Volkswagen, Audi and Škoda 
value chain in Norway. With 27,157 vehicles financed in 2016 
and 27,884 vehicles insured, Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans is 
very much part of the success that Volkswagen, Audi and 
Škoda enjoy.

Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans is currently Norway’s larg-
est car leasing company and is especially dominant on the 
private car leasing market. There is a clear trend in society 
away from owning and towards leasing. This trend applies 
to both private individuals and large companies that prefer 
to let professional partners manage their entire fleet with all 
the associated costs. This is the crux of car administration.

Report from Volkswagen Møller Bil Finans
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“Improved results in both 
the dealerships and the 
import business”
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IMPROVING RESULTS
Our operations in Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania consist of the 
car importer Moller Baltic Import and dealer chain Møller Auto 
Baltic. The import company had many highlights in 2016. The 
total market grew by 15% from 2015 to 59,638 cars, and the 
import company sold a total of 9,219 new cars. This is the 
second best year in the company’s history.

Volkswagen passenger cars retained first place in Latvia 
and Lithuania and was number three in Estonia, while Audi 
delivered its second best year ever, with sales up a massive 
23% from 2015!

Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles had a tough year with 
the transition to several new models, but nevertheless re-
tained its first-place position with a market share of 13.4%. 
Customer satisfaction scores were also very good in all three 
countries. We expect moderate further growth of the total 
market in the Baltic region, providing a good basis for further 
development. Notable events include the increased focus on 
used cars, training for employees, and the introduction of Das 
Welt Auto and Audi Approved Plus. 

Møller Auto Baltic also had numerous highlights in 2016. 
The company had a new sales record of NOK 2.0 billion and 
achieved its best ever profit of NOK 28 million. Customer 
satisfaction is also stable at a high level. We are working 
actively on manager mobility in the Baltics, and many man-
agers moved into new positions during the year. Here we are 
running a joint management development programme with 
Norway. In addition, all the employees received online training 
in the Code of Conduct.

Report from the Baltics

•   New sales record for dealer chain Møller Auto Baltic of NOK 2.0 billion
• Record profit of NOK 28 million
• Excellent customer satisfaction scores in all three countries

9,219 cars

Our operations in Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania consist of 
Moller Baltic Import and the dealer chain Møller Auto Baltic.

15
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BEST YEAR SINCE ESTABLISHMENT IN 2006
Møller Bil Sweden sold 10,780 new cars and 8,005 sec-
ond-hand cars in 2016, beating 2015, which was also a very 
good year. The market for new cars in Sweden is very strong, 
and 2016 was the best overall market ever with 372,296 pas-
senger cars, an increase of 7.9% compared with 2015. One 
highlight was that Volkswagen Golf was the best-selling car 
with over 22,000 registrations. This is the first time in 54 years 
that the best-selling car model in Sweden was not a Volvo. 
Audi was the third-largest brand after Volkswagen and Volvo. 

•  New sales record for Møller Bil Sverige of NOK 4.0 billion in 2016 
• Best profit ever of NOK 71 million 
• Several car facilities upgraded
• New sales record of 10,780 new cars

4.0 billion NOK“A highlight in Sweden was 
that Volkswagen Golf was 
the best-selling car with over 
22,000 registrations. This is 
the first time in 54 years that 
the best-selling car model in 
Sweden was not a Volvo”
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Møller Bil is Sweden’s secord largest Volkswagen-, 
Audi-, Škoda and Seat- car dealer group.

Report from Møller Bil Sverige
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BINDING CORPORATE 
SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY 

IN FOUR AREAS
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6.200
ANSATTE

TILSTEDEVÆRELSE
I NORGE, SVERIGE

OG BALTIKUM

LEDENEDE PÅ
DET GRØNNE
GIRSKIFTET

MARKEDSANDEL
PÅ 24,8 %

KUNDETILFREDSHET
+ 47 %

OMSETNING
I 2016

FORVALTNING AV
OVERSKUDD

KUNDERELASJON
I SENTRUM

BEDRE TIDS-
UTNYTTELSE

TREFFSIKRE
MÅLSETNINGER

«VI TRENGER DIN
KOMPETANSE»

EN SUNN
VIRKSOMHET

ENVIROMENT EMPLOYEES

MOBILITY  

SOCIETY

Grunnverdier
i samspill

Åpen og ærlig

Tydelig
Omtenksom

Initiavrik

26.500
mill. NOK

(omsetning 2016)

24.131
mill. NOK

(omsetning 2015)
20.601

mill. NOK
(omsetning 2014)

18.842
mill. NOK

(omsetning 2013)
18.726

mill. NOK
(omsetning 2012)

Nettsalg – muliggjør
direktesalg fra fabrikk

Bilen blir utfordret av 
andre fremkomstmidler

Sterkere konkurranse
i servicemarkedet

Bilholdet endres

Bilsalget endres

Trenger ikke eie bil lenger

Bilens posisjon endres

Fremvekst av
mikroprodusenter

MOBILITET
DIGITALISERING

BÆREKRAFT

MILJØ OG BÆREKRAFT

DELINGSØKONOMI

TEKNOLOGI

DIGITALISERING

Direktør tittel

«Em audi nonsequaes ea non plit apero 
bearupta doluptassus, consequ 
atumquat ad ut lame cus etur” PÅL SYVERSEN

AN ESSENTIAL DIALOGUE
MøllerGruppen has developed a new strategy 
for its corporate social responsibility work. In the 
process of mapping what it is important to be 
able to influence positively, MøllerGruppen and 
its owners have initiated dialogue with key stake-
holders. The purpose is to identify what our cus-
tomers, various organisations, our employees and 
our owners expect of us. This is important to be 
able to prioritise key areas where MøllerGruppen 
can contribute to sustainable social development.

Based on our stakeholders’ expectations, we then 
carried out a materiality analysis in which the follow-
ing socially strategic focus areas were prioritised:
•  MøllerGruppen’s core values and corporate 

culture
•  Energy-smart mobility and associated infra-

structure
•  Equality, diversity, inclusion and development
•  Integration and measures for people who fall 

outside the labour market
MøllerGruppen’s strategy for corporate social re-
sponsibility and our role in the community reflect 
a targeted effort in these important priority areas.

Our sustainable social mission

OUR AMBITION is that our social mission becomes an integral part of how we conduct 
long-term, profitable business in all our operations. At the same time, we have a responsibility 
to contribute to sustainable development. This is why we have chosen to call our CSR work our 
“sustainable social mission.”

In autumn 2016 the holding company Aars and MøllerGruppen conducted a stakeholder 
and materiality analysis, with the purpose of defining a strategic framework for our social 
mission. The findings of this analysis were then used to formulate three main areas – 
the Environment; Mobility, and Diversity and Inclusion – within the new strategy.

Our goals and social mission mean we are committed to targeted im-
provement work and to continue working on nurturing good attitudes. 
MøllerGruppen’s operations shall help promote human rights, good 
labour and environmental standards, and zero tolerance for 
corruption. A key tool in this work is our Code of Conduct, 
which explains our basic ethical principles and guide-
lines, indirectly linked to selected sustainable de-
velopment goals in the UN’s 2030 target. In 
the longer term, our ambition is to incor-
porate our sustainable development 
goals into our business strategy.

PAUL HEGNA
Vice President 
Communica-
tion and 
CSR

Our “new” social mission is based on four pillars
namely: Society, Environment, Employees and Mobility. 
These four pillars are interrelated and mutually reinforcing.
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Employees

at the Møller Bil School at year-end (enrolled in 2015 and 2016) The 
best students are offered a full-time job in Møller Bil once they have 
passed their apprentice examination.

134 apprentices

on non-technical training courses. In addition, we conduct e-learning 
and courses over Skype

1,339 course participants 

6,517 tmds

IT IS IMPORTANT FOR US to in-
vest in our employees, ensure that they 
have the right skills and expertise and 
are given challenging tasks. Working for 
MøllerGruppen is demanding, engaging 
and fun.

At year-end 2016, the Group had a 
total of 4,272 employees – an increase 
of 167 from the previous year. There 
were 653 employees in Sweden, a to-
tal of 672 in the three Baltic States, and 
2,949 in Norway. In other words, we are 
still growing.

MøllerGruppen’s core values are the 
cornerstones of the Group’s corporate 
culture and provide important guide-
lines for managers and employees on 
how to treat one another and our cus-
tomers. MøllerGruppen has also drawn 
up a Code of Conduct, which clarifies 
our basic ethical principles and pro-
vides guidelines.

Developing our managers and re-
cruiting new ones is a high-priority area. 
In 2016, we discontinued management 
training programmes for 41 participants, 

and in Norway and the Baltics new pro-
grammes are under development, with 
start-up in autumn 2017. 19 employees 
from five countries participated in the 
“Top Challengers” development pro-
gramme, a training programme for the 
most promising middle managers and 
talents. In addition, 28 managers are 
taking part in the company’s senior ex-
ecutive programme.

MøllerGruppen’s internal training 
academy, the Servicing School in 
Skedsmo, is responsible for all techni-
cal training on all models of Audi, Ško-
da, Volkswagen passenger cars and 
Volkswagen commercial vehicles that 
are imported into Norway. We also pro-
vide technical training for our customer 
advisers and sales staff.

In 2016 the Servicing School carried 
out 6,517 training man days, compared 
with 5,122 in 2013, 5,385 in 2014, and 
5,652 in 2015.

The importer, Harald A. Møller, also 
runs various courses and training pro-
grammes. In 2016, 269 course days 

were provided in 136 courses with 
approximately 1,339 participants in 
the area of “non-technical” training, 
i.e. training for aftersales market man-
agers, parts managers, customer ad-
visers, parts staff and warranty case 
processors. In addition, e-learning and 
courses held over Skype have been 
conducted in various areas.

The quality of our work with young 
mechanics was confirmed at the Nor-
wegian national championships in 
vocational skills in Bergen when Alek-
sander L. Severinsen of Møller Bil Jess-
heim won gold and Ken Christensen of 
Møller Bil Oslo West won silver in the 
class for young mechanics. The next 
stop is the world championships in 
Abu Dhabi. The WorldSkills champion-
ships are an important element in the 
general efforts to redefine the value 
and improve the attractiveness of the 
vocational trades. Each county has ar-
ranged local competitions, the winners 
of which participate in the finals.

UN sustainable development goal 3, target 3.6: “By 
2020, halve the number of global deaths and injuries 
from road traffic accidents.”

We will be a leader in terms of diversity, creating an inclusive work-
place, developing our employees and giving them opportunities.

In 2016 the Servicing School in Skedsmo carried out 6,517 Training 
Man Days of technical training
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The environment

Møller Bil has now implemented active energy monitoring at all the 
dealerships in Norway, Sweden and the Baltics. In Norway there is 
energy monitoring in 55 buildings, in Sweden 17 and in the Baltics 14.

Active buildings

MøllerGruppen’s ambition is that all the passenger cars sold by the 
Group will be emissions-free by 2025.

Zero emissions by 2025

Sales of chargeable vehicles

TO THIS END we must seek knowl-
edge through collaboration and as a 
company strive to find energy-efficient, 
climate-friendly and sustainable solu-
tions for all areas of our business. And 
of course we want to continue to be a 
resource on automotive and environ-
mental issues and enable our customers 
to make good environmental choices.

The CO2 emissions target for 2020 of 
85 g/km was reached in January. There 
is a good chance that we will come 
close to reaching the target that all new 
cars should be emission-free by 2025, 
according to the Norwegian Information 
Council for Road Traffic (OFV)’s website. 
Sales of chargeable cars accounted 
for just under 30% of new car sales in 
Norway in 2016, compared with 22% in 
2015, making Norway the world leader 
in electric vehicles. 2016 also saw sales 
of chargeable hybrids take off, account-
ing for 13.4% of all new passenger cars.

Transport currently generates 22% 
of the total CO2 emissions. 75% of 
these emissions are from road trans-

port. The EU has set a target to reduce 
the average vehicle emissions from new 
cars from the current 141 g/km to 95 g/
km by 2021 (source: OFV).

Half of the sales of Volkswagen pas-
senger cars in 2016 were chargeable cars, 
and the market has responded very well to 
the new technology. The high proportion 
of chargeable cars in Volkswagen’s portfo-
lio has also contributed to the average CO2 
level of new registered Volkswagen vehi-
cles now being down to 76 g/km for 2016. 
Average CO2 emissions from Volkswagen 
in 2006 were 170 g/km. In 2015 this fig-
ure had dropped to 67 g/km. The increase 
from 2015 to 2016 is due to the high sales 
of pure EVs in autumn 2015.

Volkswagen AG is currently building 
the world’s largest battery factory and will 
launch 30 new electric car models over 
the next ten years. Once this is in place, 
we will be well equipped to position our-
selves at the forefront in the competition 
with new and established auto business-
es. One of our strategic objectives is there-
fore still to be best at chargeable solutions.

Environmental protection is firm-
ly anchored in the Group, with its 
long-standing commitment to energy 
efficiency measures, and significant in-
vestments have been made to reduce 
energy consumption. Møller Bil has now 
implemented active energy monitoring 
at all dealerships, in Norway, Sweden 
and the Baltics. In Norway there is en-
ergy monitoring in 55 buildings, in Swe-
den 17 and in the Baltics 14.

Across the board Møller Bil is ap-
proaching an energy consumption level 
where a large number of dealerships 
are meeting the targets. We have also 
noticed an increasing commitment 
among dealers to the task of improv-
ing their energy efficiency. 18 dealers 
accounted for temperature-corrected 
gains of around 800,000 kWh from 
2015 to 2016. However, the gains were 
cancelled out by a handful of “prob-
lem” buildings in which consumption 
increased by a corresponding amount. 
We are working actively to reduce the 
energy consumption of these buildings.

The UN’s sustainable development goal 13. “Take ur-
gent action to combat climate change and its impacts.”

MøllerGruppen will consolidate its position as a shining example within 
the protection of the environment.

Half of all sales of Volkswagen cars were chargeable in 2016.
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WE HAVE A RESPONSIBILITY to 
prevent people being excluded and 
therefore work to ensure equality, diversi-
ty and inclusion in all our businesses. We 
want to ensure people who need it are 
offered a fresh start and thrive with us.

In the past we have collaborated 
with major organisations like the Red 
Cross, the Church’s City Mission and 
SOS Children’s Villages, in addition to 
setting up dedicated funds in the Bal-
tics and in Sweden. The MøllerGrup-
pen Baltic Foundation was established 
to support projects and initiatives that 
target people living in difficult circum-
stances in the Baltic states, while we 
in Sweden have set up a fund to sup-
port initiatives for children and young 
people. We have started the MENTOR 
project with the Red Cross, granted 
leave to employees who want to be in-
volved as a leader in the Red Cross’s 
“Ferie for alle” holiday scheme, and pur-
chased over 20,000 glass angels from 
the Church City Mission’s “Lønn som 
fortjent” work scheme. We have also 

bought car books for customers and 
for children in the “Ferie for alle” holiday 
scheme, to name but a few. These are 
our main corporate social responsibility 
activities. The goal has always been to 
collaborate on good causes and get the 
employees involved.

We continue to hold the view that 
MøllerGruppen and other companies 
have additional responsibilities beyond 
profitable value creation. For Møller-
Gruppen, corporate social responsi-
bility is a matter of steering the Group 
towards a more sustainable develop-
ment, based on our core values: honest 
and trustworthy, clear, proactive, and 
open-minded and caring. These core 
values will continue to form the back-
bone of our social mission.

Historically, businesses’ commit-
ment to corporate social responsibil-
ity has evolved from simply providing 
financial support for chosen causes to 
actively developing projects and initia-
tives that are closely linked to the busi-
ness. Preferably as an integral part of 

the company. This is also our ambition. 
We are therefore now in the process 
of implementing a number of exciting 
projects. The strategy and the projects 
have been developed on the basis of 
the recently completed stakeholder and 
materiality analysis.

For example, a separate department 
was set up at the vehicle preparation 
plant in Bekkelaget in summer 2016 
with four to six employees. The employ-
ees are on a 12-month programme with 
the aim of getting people outside the 
employment market into work, either 
with us or elsewhere. The programme 
is being undertaken in partnership 
with the Norwegian Labour and Wel-
fare Administration (NAV). The employ-
ees work on the technical or cosmetic 
preparation of cars.

We have plans to further develop 
and strengthen this area with more 
such initiatives as part of our social 
mission. 12 RESPONSIBLE CONSUMPTION AND PRODUCTION

UN sustainable development goal 12. “Ensure sustain-
able consumption and production patterns.”

MøllerGruppen wants to be known as an enterprising company that 
cares about its employees and people in general.

Society

INTERNATIONAL STANDARDS
MøllerGruppen uses the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) framework to 
report on the Group’s commitment to corporate social responsibility. 
The GRI guidelines set out principles and indicators that organisations 
can use to measure and report their economic, environmental and 
social impacts.

MøllerGruppen supports the Global Compact’s ten principles. By focus-
ing on nurturing the right attitudes and systematic improvement work, 
MøllerGruppen’s operations shall help promote human rights, good 
labour and environmental standards, and zero tolerance for corruption. 
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MØLLERGRUPPEN is a leading 
player in the industry and intends to 
maintain this position going forwards. 
We have therefore formulated a clear 
ambition that we use as a guiding star 
in our work: “We will – with a long-term 
horizon – take a central position within 
urban, smart mobility”.

What do we mean by smart mo-
bility? We want to be involved in both 
developing and adopting tomorrow’s 
technology and smart solutions. Mo-
bility is a very broad term. We have 
therefore chosen to look at smart mo-
bility as an umbrella term resting on 
five pillars: smart health, smart energy, 
smart homes, smart cities and smart 
cars. We believe that the most exciting 
and attractive opportunities will arise in 
the intersections between these various 
areas and therefore recognise the value 
of being close to all of them.

Mobility will move us into a new fu-
ture and will affect how future cities will 
look, how future generations will buy 
products and use services – and how 

our new expectations and requirements 
will affect the companies that deliver 
products and services. We see both 
commercial opportunities and social 
benefits in urban mobility, and we also 
want to help create new sustainable 
solutions.

Within our industry we are noticing 
that competition from other means of 
transport is getting stronger. Innovative 
and accessible hub solutions will make 
these options even better than they are 
today. Owning a car is not the ultimate 
dream for many young people today – 
they prefer other attractive and flexible 
mobility solutions.

In addition, political initiatives such 
as car-free town centres and invest-
ments in public transport will mean that 
more people will use public transport in 
the future. In Oslo, for example, public 
transport is predicted to increase by 
85% by 2040.

CEO of the Volkswagen Group Mat-
thias Müller has launched the factory’s 
“Together 2025” strategy, with a clear, 

offensive focus on new mobility solu-
tions going forwards.

Mobility, digitalisation and sustain-
able solutions are the industry’s main 
drivers going forwards – in addition to 
conventional car sales. The fact that the 
factory is among the first to head in a 
new direction means MøllerGruppen is 
well equipped to meet the changes.

Increasing urbanisation and environ-
mental awareness will result in chang-
es in our transportation needs. Mobility 
solutions are therefore a strategic pri-
ority for us. With car sharing and other 
sharing services on the rise, it is only 
natural for us to be a leading supplier 
of these services too.

9 INDUSTRY, INNOVATION AND INFRASTRUCTURE
UN sustainable development goal 9. “Build resilient 
infrastructure, promote inclusive and sustainable indus-
trialisation, and foster innovation.”

We expect that the coming years will bring greater changes in the  
automotive industry than we have seen in the past 80 years. 

Mobility

TOGETHER 2025
CEO of the Volkswagen Group Matthias Müller has launched the 
 factory’s “Together 2025” strategy, highlighting an offensive focus on 
new mobility solutions – across all brands.

“MøllerGruppen has started look-
ing at solutions where we can 
 offer our customers a platform for 
 sharing their car. This is currently 
still in the development stage, but 
the main strategy is to identify our 
place in a future car sharing and 
mobility solution.”

CEO TERJE MALEThe UN’s sustainable development goals are 
a global plan of action for social development 
and a basis for prioritising efforts over the next 
15 years. There are a total of 17 goals with a 
number of underlying targets. Volkswagen AG 
has committed to these goals. Four goals are 
particularly relevant for MøllerGruppen.

22



THE JOY OF 
CREATING IS THE 

DRIVING FORCE 
BEHIND OUR 

OWNERSHIP
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3

HARALD AARS MØLLER established Strømmen Auto in 1936, laying the foundation for an 80-year-long history that has shaped and 
developed MøllerGruppen to become one of northern Europe’s leading car groups with approximately 4,300 employees and turnover 
of over NOK 26 billion.

My grandfather’s values are still an important part of our everyday lives – despite the major changes in how we exercise our 
ownership. The joy of creating something in partnership with others is still a central element. The fact that a single family 
owns all the businesses means we have also been able to think and work in a long-term perspective.

Aars is the family’s joint holding company. The company’s name goes back to Harald Aars Møller who founded 
what is now MøllerGruppen. Nowadays it is members of the third and fourth generations who are the active 
owners. We have a long-term perspective on value creation. Aars has no fixed time limit for its ownership. 
This means we can look beyond short-term fluctuations and exploit the opportunities this provides. As 
owners, predictability and clarity are also a priority. The owners thus have both the willingness and 
the ability to stand behind the long-term initiatives that are necessary to enable the businesses 
to develop positively. Flexibility is another key word. We shall be actively present and in-
volved. It is important for us to be a good sparring partner, demonstrate commitment, 
and constantly develop our understanding of the businesses.

MøllerGruppen is the core business. We are humble, grateful, but per-
haps most of all proud of what we in MøllerGruppen have managed to 
create. We will do our utmost to ensure that we, as active owners, 
contribute to continued progress and growth at a time when 
MøllerGruppen, like the rest of the industry, is facing con-
siderable changes. Our goal is to be the best owners.

MøllerGruppen has been at the forefront for 
more than 80 years. We have the resources 
and strength to defend our leading posi-
tion. We therefore want to be involved 
in the developments going for-
wards, so that we can be the 
largest and the best for 
another 80 years.

“Being the largest auto group is important, 
but satisfied customers are the best 
long-term investment.”

HARALD MØLLER, 
CHAIR OF THE BOARD OF MØLLERGRUPPEN 

AND THE HOLDING COMPANY AARS

80-year history, 
four generations – one ownership strategy
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THE NATURE, SCOPE AND LOCATION OF THE GROUP
MøllerGruppen’s core business is the import, sale, servicing, 
financing and repair of the brands Volkswagen, Volkswa-
gen Commercial Vehicles, Audi and Škoda. The business is 
located in Norway, Sweden, Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania.

MøllerGruppen’s strategy is to grow with the Volkswagen 
Group’s brands, and its goal is to create value for its cus-
tomers, employees, shareholders and partners. Ever since 
Harald Aars Møller started his own car company in 1936, the 
core values – Honest and Trustworthy, Clear, Proactive, and 
Open-minded and Caring – have played a central role. 

MøllerGruppen is owned by Aars AS. Aars AS is a holding 
company focusing on asset management and allocation of 
capital to its subsidiaries. Aars AS also owns Møller Eiendom, 
which owns a large percentage of MøllerGruppen’s car facili-
ties. MøllerGruppen rents the premises on long-term contracts. 

MøllerGruppen is managed through a shared corporate man-
agement consisting of the business areas Car Imports Nor-
way, Car Dealers Norway, Car Dealers Sweden, Cars Baltics 
and Car Finance. Each business area is cultivated with an 
emphasis on independent responsibility and authority within 
the agreed framework of strategies and targets, to achieve 
long-term value development. Where appropriate, common 
functions are used to safeguard economies of scale across 
the business areas. 

Car Imports Norway 
Harald A. Møller AS is Norway’s largest car importer with a 
combined market share of over 25% in recent years. The four 
brands – Volkswagen passenger cars, Volkswagen Commer-
cial Vehicles, Audi and Škoda – all have very strong positions 
in the Norwegian market.

Harald A. Møller AS is the chain leader for all the car brands 
and is also in charge of IT operation and the logistics of 
vehicles, parts and accessories for all dealers in Norway. To 
highlight and increase the focus on IT as a group function 
for all markets, IT operations were spun off into a separate 
company owned directly by MøllerGruppen AS with effect 
from 1 January 2017.

Car Dealers Norway
MøllerGruppen owns a significant part of the Norwegian 
dealer network through Møller Bil AS. The dealers are organ-
ised as a chain under the name Møller Bil, which is Norway’s 
largest chain of car dealers.  Møller Bil Norge has 42 dealers 
and 11 specialised body & paint workshops throughout the 
country.  Møller Bil covers around 60% of the Norwegian 
market for Volkswagen and Audi, with a primary focus on 
the biggest cities. Škoda has a market share of around 45%. 

The dealers are engaged in sales of new and used cars and 
operation of mechanical workshops and body & paint work-
shops. The dealers operate as independent units, but work is 
coordinated and experiences are shared where appropriate 
– also across national borders. 

Car Dealers Sweden
The Group’s dealers in Sweden are also organised as a chain 
under the name Møller Bil. The chain consists of 12 dealers in 
Mälardalen, with a shared administration in Uppsala. Møller 
Bil Sverige accounts for about 10% of the Swedish importer’s 
sales. 

Cars Baltics
This business area comprises both imports and owned deal-
erships in the three Baltic countries. Car imports and the 
dealerships in the Baltic States have been gathered under 

a single business area to ensure better coordination and 
close collaboration as the market here is less mature than in 
Scandinavia. From 1 January 2017 the import function was 
transferred and established as a separate function under the 
Norwegian import business. The reason for this is that the 
Baltic market has matured, at the same time as we want to 
coordinate operations and harvest synergies between the 
two import companies. 

The importer imports Volkswagen passenger cars and 
Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles to all three countries and 
Audi to Latvia and Lithuania. The importer is based in Riga 
and is the largest car importer in the Baltic States.

The dealers are organised in the same way as in Norway and 
Sweden under the name Møller Auto. The chain has a shared 
management for the three countries, located in Riga. Møller 
Auto consists of 14 dealers who are largely located in the 
three capitals: Riga, Tallinn and Vilnius.

Car Finance
Car Finance operates in Norway and is run by the company 
Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS. This is a jointly controlled 
company with Volkswagen Financial Services AG.  The com-
pany offers loans, leasing and hire-purchase products, and 
insurance linked to the respective brands’ sales of new and 
used cars.

MACRO-ECONOMICS AND FRAMEWORK 
CONDITIONS
There has been continued relatively low GDP growth in all the 
Group’s market areas in 2016. Unemployment has declined in 
Sweden and the Baltic States, while it has continued to rise 
slightly in Norway. However, unemployment in Norway is still 
at a relatively low level. This, combined with low interest rates, 
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has contributed to very strong car sales in Norway and Swe-
den and a considerable increase in sales in the Baltic region. 

The Norwegian national budget for 2016 adopted relatively 
major changes in import duties for vehicles. The weight and 
kW components were reduced substantially, while the CO2 
and NOx rates were increased. This meant lower duties on 
vehicles with low emissions and powerful engines from 1 
January 2016. This direction was continued in the national 
budget for 2017, where the kW component was removed 
completely. Norway has Europe’s most favourable tax system 
for electric cars. It is indicated that this will be continued for a 
few more years. There are also a number of tax discounts for 
chargeable hybrids. A very large number of electric cars have 
been sold thanks to the tax system in Norway, and sales of 
chargeable hybrids are also rising. Sales of chargeable cars 
increased from 33,761 in 2015 to 44,885 in 2016, account-
ing for 29% of the total market. Volkswagen passenger cars 
and Audi have a strong position in this segment with a total 
market share of 34%. 

Volkswagen AG is currently building the world’s largest battery 
factory and will launch 30 new electric car models over the 
next ten years. One of the strategic objectives is therefore still 
to be best at chargeable solutions. The Volkswagen Group 
has launched a strategy for the factory called “Together 2025”, 
highlighting an offensive focus on new mobility solutions – 
across all brands. Mobility, digitalisation and sustainable 
solutions are the industry’s main drivers going forwards – in 
addition to conventional car sales. The fact that the factory 
is among the first to head in a new direction means Møller-
Gruppen is well equipped to meet the changes.

The diesel case
Work to upgrade the cars affected by the Volkswagen diesel 
scandal started in February 2016. The first major waves of 
software for affected vehicles were available in June. The 
upgrades are being carried out as guarantee work with 
normal coverage. The cars have retained all their technical 

data in accordance with their type approvals. The situation 
has not had negative financial consequences for the Group 
beyond the provision totalling NOK 28 million recognized in 
the 2015 financial statements. Volumes and market shares 
have also remained at at least the same level as before the 
case became known. Internal customer surveys in connec-
tion with upgrades show that the customers are happy with 
the handling of the case. The upgrades of the approximately 
165,000 affected cars in Norway will continue through 2017.

The car market
In 2016, Norway had the best car market since the 1980s, 
while Sweden had the best market ever. 154,603 new cars 
were registered in Norway in 2016, an increase of 3% com-
pared with 2015. The total number of commercial vehicles 
under 3.5 tonnes ended up at 36,008 vehicles, up 8% from 
2015. Sales of new cars in Sweden totalled 372,296 vehicles, 
an increase of 8%. The market for commercial vehicles grew 
by an impressive 15% to 51,670 vehicles. There was consider-
able growth in the car market in the three Baltic countries too 
in 2016, with sales of 69,440 cars, which is a 14% increase 
from 2015.

Annual financial statements
The consolidated profit before tax amounted to NOK 1,180 
million in 2016, compared with NOK 1,103 million in 2015. 
This is the best result in the Group’s history. All the business 
areas achieved profit growth compared with 2015. The profit 
includes a positive non-recurring effect of NOK 35 million in 
connection with a change in Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans’s 
method for provisions for losses. The profit for 2015 also 
included a gain of NOK 55 million from sales of businesses 
and non-recurring costs related to the diesel case of NOK 
28 million. In addition, the consolidated financial statements 
for 2016 include a negative effect of NOK 81 million, which 
is deferred income as a result of increased sales of cars 
financed by leasing. This deferred income is amortised over 
the average lease period of 33 months. The corresponding 
figure in 2015 was NOK 26 million. Adjusted for these items, 

the comparable profit before tax has increased by NOK 124 
million.

Consolidated operating revenue totalled NOK 26.4 billion in 
2016, compared with NOK 24.1 billion in 2015. All the markets 
had solid growth due to increased sales in all the product 
areas.

The combination of high turnover and lower growth in costs 
has resulted in a very good profit, despite increasing pres-
sure on margins on chargeable vehicles compared with the 
previous year. The margins in the aftersales market and on 
used cars in Norway have remained at a good level, while they 
have fallen slightly for used cars in Sweden and the Baltics.

Net cash flow from operations amounted to NOK 785 mil-
lion compared with NOK 560 million in 2015.  The cash flow 
from operations is significantly lower than the operating profit 
because it includes payable taxes and changes in working 
capital. Working capital increased by NOK 547 million in 2016, 
primarily due to increased stocks of new and used cars.

The Board is very pleased with the results and market per-
formances the Group delivered in 2016. 

Investments, liquidity and financing
The Group’s investments amounted to NOK 306 million in 
2016, a decrease of NOK 52 million from the previous year. 
There have been investments during the year to upgrade the 
car facilities in Norway and Sweden to meet new standards 
from the manufacturers. The Group has also invested in 
upgrading and development of IT systems, in part related to 
digital strategies, and the roll-out of corporate systems to the 
Swedish and Baltic operations. NOK 43 million of fixed assets 
were sold during the period. The stock at 31 December 2016 
was valued at NOK 3,546 million. This is an increase of 16% 
from 2015, which can be attributed to higher sales and a 
slightly falling stock turn for used cars.
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The Group has a five-year bond of NOK 600 million that will 
mature in November 2019. The bond loan was increased by 
NOK 200 million in July 2016 due to increased activity. This 
ensures the Group good, long-term financing, and at the 
same time the Group gains an alternative source of financ-
ing to bank financing. The bond is listed on the Nordic ABM 
exchange to ensure liquidity for investors. The Group’s financ-
ing also consists of short-term overdraft facilities and a mul-
ti-currency loan agreement with a limit of NOK 1,000 million, 
which expires in April 2021. The Group had net interest-bear-
ing liabilities totalling NOK 953 million at 31 December 2016. 

At 31 December 2016, the Group’s share capital amounted to 
NOK 2,934 million, corresponding to 40% of the total assets. 
This gives MøllerGruppen a very strong financial position.

The Group’s dealers have obligations totalling NOK 6,646 
million linked to the future repurchase of cars from financ-
ing companies. This is an increase of 28% from 2015, due 
to the shift towards sales of private-leasing contracts in the 
Norwegian and Swedish markets. The Group is exposed to 
market-based risk in that the market price for cars could fall 
below the guaranteed repurchase value. Provisions have been 
made for estimated losses in the portfolio. Overall, earnings 
are good on the sale of used buy back cars, and the Board is 
of the opinion that this risk is under satisfactory control based 
on the current financial position and market conditions.

When importing cars and parts the transaction currency used 
is the euro, except for imports of Škoda, where payment 
is made in Norwegian kroner. Prices in euro are regulated 
according to currency agreements with the factory, which 
involve most of the risk being covered by the factory. Møller-
Gruppen bears the transaction risk during the credit period, 
as well as a long-term strategic risk associated with the euro-
zone’s competitiveness. Forward contracts and options are 
used to reduce short-term risk. The Group’s investments in 
Sweden and the Baltic States are also subject to currency 
fluctuations. This risk is reduced by the businesses being 

funded in local currency. Equity is not hedged beyond the 
expected one-year dividend, which is secured by currency 
forward contracts until payment.

BUSINESS AREAS
Car Imports Norway
Harald A. Møller AS, the importer of Volkswagen, Audi, Škoda 
and Volkswagen Commercial vehicles, had total operating 
revenues of NOK 13,458 million. This is a new record and 
an increase of 11% from 2015. Profit before tax amounted 
to NOK 712 million in 2016, compared with NOK 589 million 
in 2015.  The improvement is attributable to increased car 
sales and relatively low cost inflation. Increased sales of parts 
and accessories have also contributed to the good result. 
This year’s profit is the best in the company’s history. Harald 
A. Møller AS retained its position as Norway’s largest car 
importer, and our car brands had a total market share of 
27.4% of the Norwegian car and commercial vehicle market, 
compared with 27.3% in 2015. Volkswagen passenger cars 
continues to have good market shares, due to strong sales 
of chargeable cars. Volkswagen was the most sold brand for 
the 11th consecutive year, and the Volkswagen Golf was the 
most popular car model for the 10th year running in 2016.

Škoda had another good year, with a market share of 5.0%, 
the same as in 2015. This is a strong performance, consider-
ing Škoda does not have any chargeable models. Audi man-
aged to increase its sales volume, despite fierce competition 
in the premium segment, and its market share rose from 4.4% 
to 5.0%. Audi is still held back by its lack of electric models 
and a limited range of chargeable options. Volkswagen Com-
mercial Vehicles’ market share decreased slightly from 29.2% 
in 2015 to 28.6% in 2016. Contract intake was very high, but a 
shortage of vehicles meant the market share ended up lower 
than in previous years. In 2016 sales of parts and accessories 
rose by 12.4% to revenue of NOK 1,228 million.  Operating 
costs comprised 9.2% of the operating revenue, compared 
with 9.4% in 2015. 

Car Dealers Norway
Møller Bil Norge saw a total increase in revenues of 9% in 
2016 to NOK 14,432 million, which is the highest in the com-
pany’s history. Profit before tax amounted to NOK 367 million, 
compared with NOK 417 million in 2015.  However, the profit 
for 2015 included a gain from sales of businesses of NOK 
55 million. The comparable result is thus even slightly better 
than the record from 2015. This performance reflects a high 
volume of new cars, but used cars and the aftersales market 
also made a positive contribution with increased volumes and 
good margins.

The profit margin for the dealer chain as a whole was 2.9%, 
compared with 3.0% in 2015. The profit margin is very good, 
despite the slight decline in the margin for chargeable vehicles 
from a very high level.

Møller Bil continued to enjoy a positive trend in customer sat-
isfaction in 2016 with regard to both sales and the aftersales 
market.  The Board is satisfied with the dealers’ hard work 
and focus in this area. Customer satisfaction is crucial for the 
chain’s success, and there is still room for improvement. This 
work will continue in 2017. 

Car Dealers Sweden
Møller Bil Sverige had revenue totalling NOK 4,012 million in 
2016, an increase of 14% from the previous year. The increase 
is attributable to higher sales of new cars. The total market 
achieved an all-time high, at the same time as our dealers had 
a good market performance. Profit before tax amounted to 
NOK 71 million in 2013, compared with NOK 62 million in 2015. 
Increased revenue from sales of new cars is the main reason 
for the profit growth, but increased revenue and improved mar-
gins in the aftersales market also contributed positively. Gross 
earnings on used cars fell slightly from previous years, primarily 
due to larger stocks. The combined profit margin for dealers in 
Sweden was 1.8%, compared with 2.0% in 2015.

The dealers in Sweden have demonstrated good progress in 
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customer satisfaction in both sales and the aftersales mar-
ket in recent years. However, the Swedish dealers are still 
lagging slightly behind the levels we have achieved in Nor-
way. Therefore, active steps are being taken to improve this 
further, including by comparing and coordinating measures 
with Møller Bil Norge. The Board is satisfied with the positive 
trend in Sweden.

CARS BALTICS
The Baltic business reported operating revenue of NOK 2,552 
million, an increase of 18% from 2015. The main reason for 
this is a better overall market for new cars, but the aftersales 
market also achieved better results. 

Volkswagen passenger cars had a market share of 11.2%, 
while Audi has a market share of 2.1%. Volkswagen Com-
mercial Vehicles had a market share of 13.4%. The market 
shares are down slightly from 2015, apart from Audi which 
has remained at the same level. Estonia in particular still has 
great potential for improvement in terms of both Volkswagen 
passenger cars and Commercial Vehicles. 

The profit before tax was NOK 60 million, compared with 
NOK 45 million in 2015. Both the dealers and the importer had 
good growth as a result of increased turnover. The margins 
have remained stable from 2015, apart from for used cars, 
which had slightly lower margins. The market continues to 
be characterised by low margins on new cars as a result of 
strong competition in a price-sensitive market.

In 2014, MøllerGruppen’s companies in Latvia were imposed 
a corporate fine totalling EUR 7.3 million because of alleged 
price-fixing. MøllerGruppen strongly disagrees with the 
grounds for the fine and holds that the fine is disproportion-
ate and discriminatory in relation to the alleged violations. 
The case has been brought before the Latvian courts, and a 
verdict is expected in 2017. No provisions have been made 
for this in the financial statements.

MøllerGruppen holds a very strong strategic position in the 
Baltic States, although some work still remains to be done 
in relation to developing the chain in line with what has been 
achieved in Norway and Sweden. 

Car Finance
The Group’s share of Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans’s profit after 
tax was NOK 126 million in 2016, compared with NOK 89 
million the previous year. The profit includes a positive non-re-
curring effect of NOK 35 million as a result of changes in the 
method for provisions for losses. The result is the highest ever 
and is due to strong volume growth. However, the interest 
margin is slightly reduced as a result of higher borrowing 
costs without a corresponding change in the lending rate. The 
losses are still very low. Total losses on lending, corrected for 
the above-mentioned non-recurring effect, corresponded to 
0.18% of the year’s average total assets under management, 
against 0.16% in 2015.

The high volume of new car sales has resulted in significantly 
greater demand for financing services. The degree of financ-
ing is slightly higher as a result of strong growth in private 
leasing. The total assets under management increased by a 
massive 25% to NOK 14,526 million at 31 December 2016.  

PERSONNEL, WORKING ENVIRONMENT, THE 
ENVIRONMENT AND CORPORATE SOCIAL 
RESPONSIBILITY
At year-end 2016, MøllerGruppen had 4,274 employees, an 
increase of 167 from the previous year.   

There were 653 employees in Sweden, a total of 672 in the 
three Baltic States and 2,949 in Norway.

The proportion of women in the Group is relatively stable. 
The proportion of women in Norway at year-end 2016 was 
around 16%, and we are always looking to increase this.  The 
Group has three female general managers in Norway, one in 
Sweden and two in the Baltics. We want to increase this num-

ber, which is reflected by the fact that we always encourage 
women to take part in our internal management programmes.

MøllerGruppen is a member of the UN Global Compact. 
This is described in more detail in our Corporate Social 
Responsibility Report, which covers personnel, the working 
environment, the external environment and corporate social 
responsibility. For a more detailed description of these areas, 
please see the CSR Report.

MØLLERGRUPPEN AS
The parent company, MøllerGruppen AS, is in a solid finan-
cial position. The financial statements for 2016 have been 
prepared on the assumption that the parent company and 
the Group are going concerns, and the Board confirms that 
the basis for this assumption exists. It is the Board’s opin-
ion that the annual financial statements and accompanying 
notes provide comprehensive information about the compa-
ny’s operations and financial position at 31 December 2016. 
There have been no subsequent events that would affect an 
assessment of the company. In 2016, MøllerGruppen AS had 
a net profit of NOK 626 million, which the Board proposes to 
distribute as follows:

Dividends and group contributions NOK 165 million

Transferred to other equity     NOK 461 million

Total allocated NOK 626 million

In addition to this, an additional dividend was distributed in 
2016 totalling NOK 390 million. The company had a book 
equity of NOK 1,950 million. The company had 24 employees 
at 31 December 2016. The working environment is good, and 
the company does not pollute the external environment. The 
company’s head office is in Oslo.

PROSPECTS FOR 2017 AND BEYOND
Interest rates are expected to remain low going forwards. 
This will probably contribute to a healthy car market in 2017. 
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Nevertheless, some decline is expected from the very high 
levels we saw in Norway and Sweden in 2016, while in the 
Baltics we expect slight growth based on the fact that the 
economy seems to have stabilised. Internationally, car mar-
kets are continuing to show signs of positive growth. This is 
expected to continue in 2017.

There has been a surge in online trade in a wide range of 
industries in the last few years. It is still very limited in the car 
industry. However, there is no doubt that technological devel-
opments and the customers’ expectations will result in the 
car industry also being more strongly affected by this trend 
in the next few years. In 2017 MøllerGruppen will continue 
its efforts to develop digital solutions for sales of cars and 
customer communication.

The proportion of chargeable vehicles in the overall market 

rose during 2016. This trend is expected to continue in 2017, 
as more and more brands release wider ranges of plug-in 
hybrids and all-electric cars. Volkswagen AG is currently 
building the world’s largest battery factory and will launch 30 
new electric car models over the next ten years. With such a 
committed main partner, MøllerGruppen will be well equipped 
to position itself at the forefront in the competition with new 
and established auto businesses. 

The emerging sharing economy and new purchasing and 
consumption patterns will have a huge impact on our value 
chain, but will also pave the way for new opportunities. The 
Volkswagen Group has established the company MOIA to 
develop mobility services. MøllerGruppen has started looking 
at solutions where we can offer our customers a platform 
for sharing their car. This is currently still in the development 
stage, but the strategy is to identify our place in a future car 

sharing and mobility solution. This will be one of the main 
focus areas in the coming period.

The Board is moderately optimistic about the car markets in 
our geographical areas. There is greatest uncertainty related 
to developments in Norway and Sweden, given that the mar-
kets here are at record-high levels, with continued uncertainty 
about future growth.

In general, the Board is of the opinion that uncertainty about 
important framework conditions outside the company’s 
control will continue. This applies to the general economic 
situation, but also to some extent to the car manufacturer’s 
arrangements and the authorities’ influence through laws, 
taxes and duties, especially with respect to the tax regime 
for cars in Norway. 

The Board of Directors of MøllerGruppen AS
Oslo, 30 March 2017

 Harald A. Møller Øyvind Schage Førde Jon Morten Møller Jacob Schram
 Chairman of the Board Board member Board member Board member

 Kristin Solheim Genton Jan Tellef Thorleifsson Terje Male
 Board member Board member CEO 
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Consolidated financial statements 
MøllerGruppen
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INCOME STATEMENT 

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2016 2015
OPERATING REVENUE
Sales revenue 25 953 23 492
Other operating revenue 434 639
Total operating revenue 1 26 387 24 131

OPERATING COSTS
Cost of goods 20 706 18 759
Payroll and other personnel costs 2 2 616 2 457
Depreciation and write-downs 6 213 180
Other operating costs 3 1 783 1 703
Total operating costs 25 318 23 098

OPERATING PROFIT 1 069 1 033

FINANCIAL ITEMS
Income from investments in associated companies 4 126 89
Other financial income 5 50 69
Other financial costs 5 (65) (88)
Total financial items 111 70

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 1 180 1 103

Taxes 19 268 279
NET PROFIT 912 824

Majority 897 812
Minorities 15 12

Income statement
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Balance sheet
GROUP ASSETS AT 31 DEC.

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2016 2015
ASSETS
Deferred tax asset 19 238 214
Intangible assets 6 221 180
Goodwill 6 38 56
Total intangible assets 496 450

Tangible fixed assets 6 624 555

Investments in associated companies 4 758 691
Investments in shares 7 2 2
Other receivables 11 14 31
Total financial fixed assets 774 725

TOTAL FIXED ASSETS 1 894 1 729

Stock 9 3 546 3 062

Accounts receivable 10 1 439 1 166
Other receivables 11 356 385
Total receivables 1 795 1 551

Cash and cash equivalents 12 32 142

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 5 373 4 755

TOTAL ASSETS 7 267 6 484
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Balance sheet
GROUP EQUITY AND LIABILITIES AT 31 DEC.

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2016 2015
EQUITY
Share capital 13 48 48
Other equity 2 833 2 533
Minorities' interest 53 44
TOTAL EQUITY 17 2 934 2 624

LIABILITIES
Deferred tax 19 24 34
Pension liabilities 8 51 57
Other provisions and contingent liabilities 12 10
Total provisions for liabilities 87 101

Liabilities to financial institutions 597 399
Other non-current liabilities 16 13
Total non-current liabilities 16, 18 613 413

Liabilities to financial institutions 18 372 400
Accounts payable 613 434
Tax payable 19 293 259
Public duties payable 795 620
Dividends and group contributions 164 356
Other current liabilities 14 1 396 1 277
Total current liabilities 3 633 3 347

TOTAL LIABILITIES 4 333 3 860

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 7 267 6 484

Oslo, 26. mars 2015
I styret for MøllerGruppen AS

...........................................
Harald Møller

Styreleder

...........................................
Øyvind Schage Førde

Styremedlem

...........................................
Jon Morten Møller

Board member

..........................................
Jacob Schram
Styremedlem

..........................................
Kristin Solheim Genton

Styremedlem

...........................................
Jan Tellef  Thorleifsson

Styremedlem

.........................................
Pål Syversen
Konsernsjef

Oslo,	30	March	2017
The	Board	of	Directors	of	MøllerGruppen	AS:	

...........................................
Harald Møller

Chair of the Board

...........................................
Øyvind Schage Førde

Board member

..........................................
Jacob Schram
Board member

..........................................
Kristin Solheim Genton

Board member

...........................................
Jan Tellef  Thorleifsson

Board member

.........................................
Terje Male
Group CEO

The Board of Directors of MøllerGruppen AS
Oslo, 30 March 2017

 Harald A. Møller Øyvind Schage Førde Jon Morten Møller Jacob Schram
 Chairman of the Board Board member Board member Board member

 Kristin Solheim Genton Jan Tellef Thorleifsson Terje Male
 Board member Board member CEO 
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Cash flow statement
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT 

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2016 2015
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS
Profit/(loss) before tax 1 180 1 103
Depreciation and write-downs 6 213 180
Gains from sale of fixed assets / companies (6) (59)
Tax payable (273) (138)
Own financing 1 114 1 086
Change in stock (450) (387)
Change in accounts receivable and payables (97) (251)
Change in other items 218 112
NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS 785 560

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENTS
Investments in tangible and intangible assets (306) (358)
Sale of business assets (sales sum) 43 40
Payments in connection with purchase of shares in subsidiaries and businesses (45) -
Capital paid to AC 4 - (123)
Proceeds from sale of shares in subsidiaries 20 - 54
Proceeds associated with financial fixed assets 19 7
NET CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENTS (289) (380)

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING
New loans 300 50
Repayment of loans (27) (2)
Payments to minorities - -
Dividend paid (751) (278)
NET CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING (478) (230)

Change in cash and cash equivalents during year 18 (50)
Cash reserve at 1 Jan. (58) (8)
Cash reserve at 31 Dec. (40) (58)

Specification of cash reserve at 31 Dec.
Means of payment 12 32 142
Overdraft / current market loans 18 (72) (200)
Cash reserve at 31 Dec. (40) (58)
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Accounting policies
The consolidated financial statements present financial infor-
mation about the Group as a whole when group companies 
are treated as a single accounting unit. The companies that 
MøllerGruppen has a controlling influence over are consoli-
dated. The consolidated financial statements include the par-
ent company MøllerGruppen AS and the companies listed in 
note 6 to MøllerGruppen AS’s accounts, and their subsidiar-
ies. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the moment control is 
transferred to the Group (acquisition date), and consolidation 
ceases when control of the subsidiary ceases.

ELIMINATION OF INTERNAL TRANSACTIONS
All transactions and balances between group companies are 
eliminated. Stock and other business assets are adjusted for 
unrealised internal profit.

ELIMINATION OF SHARES IN SUBSIDIARIES
Shares in subsidiaries are consolidated using the acquisition 
method. The cost price of the shares in the individual subsid-
iary is eliminated against the subsidiary’s equity on the acqui-
sition date. The subsequent increase or decrease in value is 
added to the assets and liabilities on the balance sheet as 
increased / reduced value associated with and accounted 
for during the asset’s remaining lifetime. Increased / reduced 
values that cannot be attributed to specific assets or liabilities 
are recognised as goodwill / badwill on the balance sheet 
and depreciated / recognised as income over their financial 
lifetime. 

In the case of acquisitions of subsidiaries with a minority, 
100% of identifiable assets and liabilities are recognised on 
the balance sheet, while for goodwill only the majority share 
is recognised. 

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 

Where the Group reduces its stake to 50% or lower, profit/
(loss) is recorded as though the entire company had been 
sold. This means that the remaining stake is measured at 
fair value.

CONVERSION OF FOREIGN SUBSIDIARIES
Balance sheet items in foreign subsidiaries are translated 
using the closing rate, while earnings are translated using 
the weighted average exchange rate. Translation differences 
relating to foreign subsidiaries are charged to equity. 

MINORITY INTERESTS
Minority interests are extracted as separate items in the in-
come statement and on the balance sheet. In the income 
statement the minorities’ share of the result after tax is cal-
culated and shown.

Minority interests on the balance sheet represent the minor-
ities’ share of the companies’ equity, taking into account the 
minorities’ share of increased / reduced values and internal 
profits. 

ASSOCIATED COMPANIES AND JOINT VENTURES
Shares in companies in which the Group holds between 20% 
and 50%, and over which the Group has significant influence 
and where the investment is long term in nature are consol-
idated in accordance with the equity method in the consol-
idated financial statements. This means the Group’s share 
of the net profit after tax and depreciation of any increased 
values are recognised under financial items and added to the 
carrying amount of the share. Internal sales of the business 
assets of associated companies are corrected for unrealised 
internal profit.

Stakes in joint ventures are treated according to the same 

policy. In the company accounts, associated companies are 
accounted for using the cost method. The investment is val-
ued at the lower of cost and fair value.

Individual stakes in smaller companies with limited value and 
profit are treated as ordinary share investments, which are 
assessed at the lower of cost price and fair value.

ACCRUALS, CLASSIFICATION AND  
MEASUREMENT POLICIES 

FUNDAMENTAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with the Norwegian Accounting Act and generally accepted 
accounting policies based on the fundamental principles of 
historical cost, comparability, going concern, congruence and 
prudence. Transactions are recognised at the value of the 
remuneration on the transaction date. Income is recognised 
when earned, and costs are matched with earned income.

CLASSIFICATION OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Goods, current receivables and current liabilities include items 
due for payment within one year of their acquisition, and items 
related to goods circulation. The current portion of non-cur-
rent liabilities due within one year is classified as non-current 
liabilities. Other items are classified as non-current assets or 
non-current liabilities. 

ESTIMATES
Estimates are used to measure income, costs, balance sheet 
items and other liabilities for which there are no market val-
ues. This applies to the measurement of warranty liabilities, 
obsolete stock, pensions, and goodwill, other long-term pro-
visions and deferred losses on repurchase liabilities. Future 
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events may lead to changes in the estimates. Estimates and 
underlying conditions are assessed continually. Changes to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period the change 
occurs. 

INCOME RECOGNITION
The Group sells products and services, which are recog-
nised on delivery. For sales of new cars with repurchase 
agreements, the sale is recognised on delivery. Subsequent 
repurchases and sales of repurchased cars are recognised as 
separate transactions. Total repurchase liabilities are detailed 
in note 15. 

For sales of new cars, vehicle import duty to the State com-
prises a significant amount. This is not shown as revenue, but 
is only included as current liabilities in the financial statements. 
The proportion of sales revenue related to future aftersales 
contracts is recognised as unearned income upon the sale 
and is recognised as income as the services are provided.

TANGIBLE AND INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
Tangible fixed assets and intangible assets on the balance 
sheet are stated at cost less ordinary depreciation. Ordinary 
depreciation and amortisation in the income statement is on 
a straight-line basis and is based on estimates of the financial 
and technical lifespan.

On indication that the carrying amount of a fixed asset is higher 
than its fair value, a test for impairment will be conducted. The 
test is conducted for the lowest level of the fixed assets that 
have independent cash flow. If the carrying amount is higher 
than both the value and the recoverable amount (present value 
of continued use or ownership), the asset is written down to 
the higher of sales value and recoverable amount. Write-downs 
are reversed if the basis for the write-down no longer exists.

Lease agreements that are not recognised (operational leas-
ing) are presented in the financial statements as an opera-
tional cost and the annual leasing amount is presented in 

note 6. Leased assets are recognised on the balance sheet 
if the lease transfers substantially all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership of the assets.

SHARES AND UNITS
Shares in subsidiaries of a strategic nature and other long-
term investments are classified as fixed assets and recog-
nised at the lower of cost price and fair value. Dividends from 
subsidiaries are recognised in the same year as the company 
sells them. Dividends from other companies are recognised 
as income when the dividends are paid.

Short-term investments are classified as current assets and 
are measured at the lower of cost price and fair value. 

STOCK
Stocks of cars are assessed at the lower of cost price and 
assumed retail price after sales costs. An individual assess-
ment is made of each car. Parts and equipment are recog-
nised at average procurement cost (in accordance with the 
FIFO principle). Write-downs are made for obsolescence.

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND OTHER RECEIVA-
BLES 
Accounts receivable and other receivables are recognised on 
the balance sheet at their nominal rate after the deduction of 
confirmed and expected losses. 

OTHER FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS 
Short-term financial investments are recognised at market 
value. 

TAXES
Taxes consist of tax payable and changes to deferred tax. Tax 
payable is fixed based on the year’s taxable result. Deferred 
tax on the balance sheet is calculated based on temporary 
differences between taxable and accounting values and tax 
losses carried forward. Deferred tax assets where future use 
is uncertain are not recorded. Deferred tax and deferred tax 

assets are presented net on the balance sheet when there is a 
basis for offsetting. If the tax rate has changed since the pre-
vious year, the new tax rate is used to calculate deferred tax.

Deferred tax and deferred tax assets on acquisitions are cal-
culated based on the difference between fair value and book 
value in acquired companies for identifiable assets and liabili-
ties. Deferred tax is not calculated on goodwill and increased 
value of properties upon acquisition. Deferred tax on tempo-
rary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries 
is included, unless the temporary difference is unlikely to be 
reversed in the immediate future.

PENSIONS 
The Norwegian companies have a defined-contribution group 
pension scheme, which is covered by insurance companies. 

In addition, the Norwegian companies have a few unfunded 
pension liabilities, which are charged directly to operations 
and calculated by an actuary. Most of the Norwegian compa-
nies are covered by the contractual early retirement scheme 
(the “AFP” scheme) through the Norwegian Federation of 
Trade Unions (LO) and the Confederation of Norwegian 
Enterprise (NHO). Although this is a defined-benefit scheme, 
there is no direct allocation of assets and liabilities for each 
individual company. The scheme is therefore treated as a 
defined-contribution plan for accounting purposes where pre-
miums are charged as a cost as they are incurred.

The Swedish companies have group pension schemes 
(defined-benefit and defined-contribution schemes), which 
are governed by collective agreements. The companies in 
Lithuania, Latvia and Estonia do not have pension plans.

The accounting for pensions has now changed from following 
the Norwegian Accounting Standard (NRS 6) to accounting 
in accordance with IAS 19. This means that on the transi-
tion date actuarial gains and/or losses were set to zero and 
charged to equity. In accordance with the new policy, the 
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year’s actuarial gains and/or losses were charged to equity.

Defined-contribution pensions are calculated on an ongoing 
basis in the financial statements, with the Group contributing 
a certain percentage share of the employee’s salary to the 
insurance company. The contributions are invested in funds, 
and employees can choose between various savings pro-
files. Apart from this, the Group has no other liabilities to its 
employees in this scheme.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  
When hedging future interest costs, where the hedging instru-
ments are intended to protect the Group from variations in 
future cash flows, the hedging instrument is not recorded in the 
balance sheet as long as the hedging is considered effective. 
Gains or losses are recorded at net in line with the result for 
the hedged item. For interest rate swap agreements where the 
hedging is not considered effective, the hedging instrument 
is recorded at market value in the balance sheet. Changes in 
market value are recorded in the income statement as they 
arise.

For currency forward contracts, the intention of which is to 
hedge assets and liabilities, where the hedge is considered 
to be effective, both the hedging instrument and the hedged 
item are evaluated at fair value, and gains and losses are rec-
ognised. When hedging net investments in foreign currency 
and where the hedge is considered effective, the currency 
forward contract is evaluated at fair value. Changes to fair 
value are charged directly to equity.

FOREIGN CURRENCY
Monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are meas-
ured at the balance sheet date, and related foreign exchange 
gains/(losses) are recognised as financial items. This applies 
to cash and cash equivalents, receivables and liabilities. For 
non-cash items, the price at the transaction date is used as a 
basis for the acquisition cost and is not translated later. This 
applies mainly to stock and tangible fixed assets. The sale 

and purchase of goods and services in foreign currencies is 
calculated at the exchange rate on the date of the transaction. 

The Group uses Norwegian kroner (NOK) as its presentation 
currency. The Group is exposed to changes in currency in 
SEK and EUR. Within the Group loans are granted in SEK 
and EUR.

WARRANTY ALLOCATIONS 
The Group incurs warranty liabilities through sales of new 
cars in accordance with the warranties provided by the vari-
ous manufacturers and regulations in the individual country. 
The manufacturers normally provide warranties according 
to applicable guidelines, but importers and dealers provide 
warranties in addition to these in accordance with local laws 
and any goodwill payment. Warranty periods vary from one 
to 12 years. 

With the sale of used cars, the dealer generally handles the 
warranty liabilities, in addition to the remaining manufacturer’s 
warranty.

Ongoing provisions and assessments are made for future 
liabilities.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the financial state-
ments. Contingent liabilities are recognised when it is more 
than 50% likely that a liability will be incurred and the liability 
can be measured reliably. 

REPURCHASE AGREEMENTS
The Group has a portfolio of sold new cars with guaranteed 
repurchase prices. The repurchase prices vary from 50–70% 
depending on the rental period, mileage and model of car. 
The agreements are not recognised on the balance sheet. 
The liabilities are continuously assessed, and provisions are 
made for any anticipated losses. 

CASH FLOW STATEMENT
The indirect method is used when preparing the cash flow 
statement. Liquid assets include cash, cash equivalents, 
financial investments (money market funds) and bank over-
drafts.

LONG-TERM PARTNERSHIP CONTRACTS 

VOLKSWAGEN AG, AUDI AG, AND ŠKODA AUTO-
MOBILAVA AS (COMPANIES IN THE VOLKSWAGEN 
GROUP)

Harald A. Møller AS’s contracts with Volkswagen, Volkswagen 
Commercial Vehicles, Škoda and Audi have an average notice 
period of two years.

The contracts with Audi and Volkswagen in the Baltic States 
have an average notice period of two years. The Volkswagen 
contract applies to Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania, while the 
Audi contract applies to Latvia and Lithuania. 

Volkswagen Financial Services AG (company in the Volkswa-
gen Group)

In 2009, Volkswagen Financial Services AG and MøllerGrup-
pen AS set up the company Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS 
to sell car financing products in Norway. Volkswagen Financial 
Services AG owns 51% and MøllerGruppen AS 49% of the 
company. The current shareholders have preferential rights if 
shares are put up for sale.

Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS is treated as an associated 
company and incorporated using the equity method.
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NotesNOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

All figures are in NOK millions.

Note 1 - Segment information

The business consists of the following business areas: Car Imports Norway (Harald A. Møller), Car Dealers Norway (Møller Bil Norge), Car Dealers Sweden 
(Møller Bil Sverige), Cars Baltics (Møller Auto Baltic and Møller Baltic Import), Car Finance (Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans) and other companies.

The business areas report the following key figures:
2016

Car Imports 
Norway

Car Dealers 
Norway

Car Dealers 
Sweden

Cars Baltics Car Finance Other companies Eliminations Group         

Operating revenue 13 458 14 432 4 012 2 552 -                            69 (8 135) 26 387
Operating profit/(loss) 712 384 76 64 -                            (64) (102) 1 069
Depreciation and write-downs 82 94 20 13 -                            6 (1) 213
Income from investments in associated companies-                       -                       -                       -                             126 -                            -                          126
EBITDA 794 478 96 76 126 (59) (103) 1 408
Other financial results -                       (17) (5) (4) -                            11 -                          (15)
Profit/(loss) before tax 712 367 71 60 126 (54) (102) 1 180

Assets 2 553 4 073 622 832 401 2 749 (3 963) 7 267
* Includes the effect of a change in the method for provisions for losses in VWMBF of NOK 35 million.

2015
Car Imports 

Norway
Car Dealers 

Norway
Car Dealers 

Sweden
Cars Baltics Car Finance Other companies Eliminations Group         

Operating revenue 12 109 13 243 3 534 2 167 -                            62 (6 984) 24 131
Operating profit/(loss) 597 433 68 50 -                            (67) (48) 1 033
Depreciation and write-downs 64 81 18 11 -                            5 1 180
Income from investments in associated companies-                       -                       -                       -                             89 -                            -                          89
EBITDA 661 515 86 61 89 (63) (47) 1 301
Other financial results (8) (16) (6) (4) -                            15 -                          (19)
Profit/(loss) before tax 589 417 62 45 89 (52) (47) 1 103

Assets 2 133 3 464 668 871 275 2 558 (3 487) 6 484

Note 2 - Payroll and other personnel costs

2016 2015
Salaries 2 044 1 922
Employer's NI contributions 334 331
Pension costs 138 136
Other personnel costs 100 68
Total payroll and other personnel costs 2 616 2 457

Average number of employees 4 191 4 017
Loans to employees 30 38

2016 2015
Salaries, bonuses, pension costs and other remuneration for the CEO 8 7
Board fees 2 2
Total remuneration of senior executives 10 9

Loans to employees are mainly interest-bearing car loans where the companies have security in a car. The interest rate on these loans is 2.5%. In the event of sale, liquidation or other 
reorganisation, general managers in the Group are entitled to salary for one year, under certain terms. 

2016 2015
Audit fees and audit-related services 4 4
Tax, fees and other consultancy services  1 1
Total auditor's fees (excl. VAT) 5 5

At 31 December 2016 the CEO and board members own 1.34% and 0.44% stakes, respectively, in Møller MI AS. Møller MI AS is an investment company where senior 
executives have the opportunity to invest. The CEO is the CEO of MøllerGruppen AS and is employed and paid by the parent company. Bonus schemes have been 
established where the size of the payment depends on the results achieved for the year, combined with other qualitative assessment criteria, and where the bonus is 
considered to be part of the normal remuneration for this type of position. Two executives are entitled to two years' salary in the event of major 
reorganisations. MøllerGruppen got a new CEO on 1 January 2017. The information in this note concerns the former CEO.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

All figures are in NOK millions.

Note 1 - Segment information

The business consists of the following business areas: Car Imports Norway (Harald A. Møller), Car Dealers Norway (Møller Bil Norge), Car Dealers Sweden 
(Møller Bil Sverige), Cars Baltics (Møller Auto Baltic and Møller Baltic Import), Car Finance (Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans) and other companies.

The business areas report the following key figures:
2016

Car Imports 
Norway

Car Dealers 
Norway

Car Dealers 
Sweden

Cars Baltics Car Finance Other companies Eliminations Group         

Operating revenue 13 458 14 432 4 012 2 552 -                            69 (8 135) 26 387
Operating profit/(loss) 712 384 76 64 -                            (64) (102) 1 069
Depreciation and write-downs 82 94 20 13 -                            6 (1) 213
Income from investments in associated companies-                       -                       -                       -                             126 -                            -                          126
EBITDA 794 478 96 76 126 (59) (103) 1 408
Other financial results -                       (17) (5) (4) -                            11 -                          (15)
Profit/(loss) before tax 712 367 71 60 126 (54) (102) 1 180

Assets 2 553 4 073 622 832 401 2 749 (3 963) 7 267
* Includes the effect of a change in the method for provisions for losses in VWMBF of NOK 35 million.

2015
Car Imports 

Norway
Car Dealers 

Norway
Car Dealers 

Sweden
Cars Baltics Car Finance Other companies Eliminations Group         

Operating revenue 12 109 13 243 3 534 2 167 -                            62 (6 984) 24 131
Operating profit/(loss) 597 433 68 50 -                            (67) (48) 1 033
Depreciation and write-downs 64 81 18 11 -                            5 1 180
Income from investments in associated companies-                       -                       -                       -                             89 -                            -                          89
EBITDA 661 515 86 61 89 (63) (47) 1 301
Other financial results (8) (16) (6) (4) -                            15 -                          (19)
Profit/(loss) before tax 589 417 62 45 89 (52) (47) 1 103

Assets 2 133 3 464 668 871 275 2 558 (3 487) 6 484

Note 2 - Payroll and other personnel costs

2016 2015
Salaries 2 044 1 922
Employer's NI contributions 334 331
Pension costs 138 136
Other personnel costs 100 68
Total payroll and other personnel costs 2 616 2 457

Average number of employees 4 191 4 017
Loans to employees 30 38

2016 2015
Salaries, bonuses, pension costs and other remuneration for the CEO 8 7
Board fees 2 2
Total remuneration of senior executives 10 9

Loans to employees are mainly interest-bearing car loans where the companies have security in a car. The interest rate on these loans is 2.5%. In the event of sale, liquidation or other 
reorganisation, general managers in the Group are entitled to salary for one year, under certain terms. 

2016 2015
Audit fees and audit-related services 4 4
Tax, fees and other consultancy services  1 1
Total auditor's fees (excl. VAT) 5 5

At 31 December 2016 the CEO and board members own 1.34% and 0.44% stakes, respectively, in Møller MI AS. Møller MI AS is an investment company where senior 
executives have the opportunity to invest. The CEO is the CEO of MøllerGruppen AS and is employed and paid by the parent company. Bonus schemes have been 
established where the size of the payment depends on the results achieved for the year, combined with other qualitative assessment criteria, and where the bonus is 
considered to be part of the normal remuneration for this type of position. Two executives are entitled to two years' salary in the event of major 
reorganisations. MøllerGruppen got a new CEO on 1 January 2017. The information in this note concerns the former CEO.

Note 3 - Other operating costs

2016 2015
Operating costs (rent, electricity, maintenance, car costs, etc.) 880 815
Sales costs (advertising, warranties, etc.) 705 655
Administration costs (IT services, fees, travel expenses, gifts, bad debts) 199 233
Total other operating costs 1 783 1 703

Note 4 - Investments in associated companies

Voting Equity Carrying Internal AdditionsShare of profit/(loss) Carrying
rights/ in company amount profit disposals  after tax amount 

Company name stake 31.12.16 01.01.16 2016 31.12.16
Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS 49,0 % 1 984 686 (59) -                            126 753
UAB Baltic Auto, Lithuania 35,0 % 10 5 -                            -                            -                          5
Total 691  (59) 0 126 758

Investments in associated companies are incorporated in accordance with the equity method. 

Note 5 - Other financial income and financial costs

2016 2015
Interest income 4 4
Currency gains 44 63
Other financial income 2 2
Total other financial income 50 69

Interest costs 22 22
Currency losses 36 59
Other financial costs 7 7
Total other financial costs 65 88

Note 6 - Tangible fixed assets, intangible assets and goodwill

Machinery and Vehicles Buildings Intangible Goodwill* Total
fixtures assets

Acquisition cost at 1 Jan. 965 85 324 357 191 1 922
Additions in connection with acquisition of companies 11 9 61 -                            2                         82
Additions 86 71 42 107 - 306
Disposals (66) (53) -                            (7) -                          (127)
Currency translation difference (20) - (2) 1 (9) (30)
Acquisition cost at 31 Dec. 977 112 424 458 183 2 154
Accumulated depreciation at 1 Jan. 637 10 173 177 135 1 132
Additions in connection with acquisition of companies 7 3 15 -                            -                          25
Year's depreciation and write-downs 91 23 25 59 16 213
Disposals (67) (16) -                            -                            -                          (83)
Currency translation difference (12) -                             -                            1 (5) (16)
Depreciated at 31 Dec. 656 19 213 237 145 1 271
Carrying amount at 31 Dec. 321 92 211 221 38 883
* Goodwill in connection with acquisition of new companies, and goodwill in company financial statements. 

Straight-line depreciation plan 3–7 years 3–7 years 20–50 years 3–10 years 5–10 years

Annual rental of off balance sheet business assets 50 347 397

Duration of rental of business assets 1–5 years 1–5 years 1–15 years

Depreciation time on goodwill that represents strategic investments is normally over 10 years. These are investments where MøllerGruppen has a long-term perspective and 
that are within the Group's core business. Other items are depreciated over 5 years. Intangible assets of NOK 221 million concern software and development costs for IT 
systems.
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Note 3 - Other operating costs

2016 2015
Operating costs (rent, electricity, maintenance, car costs, etc.) 880 815
Sales costs (advertising, warranties, etc.) 705 655
Administration costs (IT services, fees, travel expenses, gifts, bad debts) 199 233
Total other operating costs 1 783 1 703

Note 4 - Investments in associated companies

Voting Equity Carrying Internal AdditionsShare of profit/(loss) Carrying
rights/ in company amount profit disposals  after tax amount 

Company name stake 31.12.16 01.01.16 2016 31.12.16
Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS 49,0 % 1 984 686 (59) -                            126 753
UAB Baltic Auto, Lithuania 35,0 % 10 5 -                            -                            -                          5
Total 691  (59) 0 126 758

Investments in associated companies are incorporated in accordance with the equity method. 

Note 5 - Other financial income and financial costs

2016 2015
Interest income 4 4
Currency gains 44 63
Other financial income 2 2
Total other financial income 50 69

Interest costs 22 22
Currency losses 36 59
Other financial costs 7 7
Total other financial costs 65 88

Note 6 - Tangible fixed assets, intangible assets and goodwill

Machinery and Vehicles Buildings Intangible Goodwill* Total
fixtures assets

Acquisition cost at 1 Jan. 965 85 324 357 191 1 922
Additions in connection with acquisition of companies 11 9 61 -                            2                         82
Additions 86 71 42 107 - 306
Disposals (66) (53) -                            (7) -                          (127)
Currency translation difference (20) - (2) 1 (9) (30)
Acquisition cost at 31 Dec. 977 112 424 458 183 2 154
Accumulated depreciation at 1 Jan. 637 10 173 177 135 1 132
Additions in connection with acquisition of companies 7 3 15 -                            -                          25
Year's depreciation and write-downs 91 23 25 59 16 213
Disposals (67) (16) -                            -                            -                          (83)
Currency translation difference (12) -                             -                            1 (5) (16)
Depreciated at 31 Dec. 656 19 213 237 145 1 271
Carrying amount at 31 Dec. 321 92 211 221 38 883
* Goodwill in connection with acquisition of new companies, and goodwill in company financial statements. 

Straight-line depreciation plan 3–7 years 3–7 years 20–50 years 3–10 years 5–10 years

Annual rental of off balance sheet business assets 50 347 397

Duration of rental of business assets 1–5 years 1–5 years 1–15 years

Depreciation time on goodwill that represents strategic investments is normally over 10 years. These are investments where MøllerGruppen has a long-term perspective and 
that are within the Group's core business. Other items are depreciated over 5 years. Intangible assets of NOK 221 million concern software and development costs for IT 
systems.
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Specification of goodwill / badwill in connection with acquisitions:
Business unit Acquisition Depreciation Acquisition Accumulated Carrying Year's 

date period cost* depreciation* amount* depreciation
Car Dealers Norway 2016 10 years 2 -                            2 -                          
Car Dealers Sweden 2014 10 years 27 6 21 3

2011 10 years 30 17 13 3
Car Dealers Sweden 2008 10 years 38 37 1 4
Car Dealers Sweden 2007 10 years 7 6 1 1
Car Dealers Norway 2007 10 years 48 48 -                          5
Total goodwill / badwill in connection with acquisitions 150 114 38 16
* Incl. currency translation difference

Note 7 - Investments in other shares and units 

Note 8 - Pensions 

2016 2015
Interest cost of pension liabilities 1 3
Year's pension costs for funded and unfunded pensions 1 3
Defined-contribution pension 94 92
Defined-benefit pension not calculated by an actuary 43 40
Total pension costs 138 136

Carrying amount pension obligations calculated by an actuary  
Carrying amount pension liabilities at 1 Jan. 2016 (57) (39)
Effect of change in accounting policy -                          (12)
Calculated pension liabilities at 1 Jan. 2016 (57) (51)
The year's actuarial gains / losses charged directly to equity -                          (1)
The year's pension costs (1) (3)
The year's pension payments 2                         3
Currency translation difference 4                         (5)
Pension liabilities (51) (57)

Number of people covered by all pension plans 3 305 3 278

Financial assumptions Sweden Norway
Return on pension assets - 0,0 %
Discount rate 3,8 % 2,1 %
Annual salary growth / annual G adjustment 2,0 % 2,3 %

The actuarial assumptions relating to demographic factors are the normal assumptions used by the insurance industry, adapted to the Group's 
age structure and retirement. All pension liabilities include the employers' National Insurance contribution.

Car Dealers Baltics

The Norwegian and Swedish companies in the Group have secured collective pension agreements. The companies in the three Baltic States do not have pension plans. 
In Norway we have an ongoing defined-contribution scheme. The defined-contribution plan is charged as a cost on an ongoing basis in the financial statements as the 
Group pays an amount of savings to the insurance company based on the individual employee's salary. On 1 January 2015 the scheme was adapted to comply with the 
new Act on occupational pensions: the threshold between the lower and the higher savings rate was raised from 6 x the National Insurance basic amount ("G") to 7.1 x G. In 
addition to saving for a retirement pension, disability pension and surviving children's pension are also covered. These payments do not have a paid-up policy element, 
meaning there is no future liability related to disability and children's pensions beyond the current premium payments.

The Group is a member of the contractual early retirement scheme (the "AFP" scheme) through the Norwegian Federation of Trade Unions (LO) and the Confederation of 
Norwegian Enterprise (NHO). The former AFP scheme was completely phased out in 2015, meaning there is no outstanding liability related to this scheme. Unlike the old 
scheme the new AFP scheme is not an early retirement scheme, but rather a scheme that provides a life-long supplement to the standard pension. Employees can choose 
to start drawing on the AFP pension scheme from the age of 62. The new pension scheme is a defined-benefit, multi-employer pension plan funded by premiums that are 
determined as a percentage of the individual's salary. There is no reliable measurement and allocation of liabilities and assets in the scheme. Therefore, in the financial 
statements the scheme is treated as a defined-contribution pension scheme where the premium payments are charged as a cost on an ongoing basis and no provisions are 
made in the financial statements. In 2016 premiums were paid into the new scheme for employees aged up to and including 61 at a rate of 2.5% of the total salary payments 
between 1 G and 7.1 G.

Our Swedish companies have pension plans in accordance with a collective agreement. The scheme in Sweden is a combination of defined-benefit and defined-contribution 
plans based on job category, age and income. The defined-benefit plan is partially financed by means of premium payments, while the rest is financed through the 
accumulation of pension liabilities in the balance sheet. The pension liabilities related to the part of the scheme that is not insured are calculated by an actuary. These 
liabilities will be reduced in line with the ongoing pension payments. All future pension savings are now insured, but these amounts are not calculated by an actuary, as the 
scheme is such that assets and liabilities are not allocated directly to the individual company in the collective pension fund. In 2015 MøllerGruppen changed its accounting 
policy on accounting of defined-benefit pensions to IAS 19, cf. the note on accounting policies. This means that on the transition date actuarial gains and/or losses were set 
to zero and charged to equity with NOK 10 million after tax. In accordance with the new policy, the year's actuarial gains and/or losses were charged to equity.

Some subsidiaries in MøllerGruppen have a number of minor equity investments with holdings of 20–35%, such as repair and lacquer workshops and the tyre hotel. These 
are not treated as associated companies since they have limited value and small profits. At 31 December 2016 these investments had a total carrying amount of NOK 2 
million.

Note 3 - Other operating costs

2016 2015
Operating costs (rent, electricity, maintenance, car costs, etc.) 880 815
Sales costs (advertising, warranties, etc.) 705 655
Administration costs (IT services, fees, travel expenses, gifts, bad debts) 199 233
Total other operating costs 1 783 1 703

Note 4 - Investments in associated companies

Voting Equity Carrying Internal AdditionsShare of profit/(loss) Carrying
rights/ in company amount profit disposals  after tax amount 

Company name stake 31.12.16 01.01.16 2016 31.12.16
Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS 49,0 % 1 984 686 (59) -                            126 753
UAB Baltic Auto, Lithuania 35,0 % 10 5 -                            -                            -                          5
Total 691  (59) 0 126 758

Investments in associated companies are incorporated in accordance with the equity method. 

Note 5 - Other financial income and financial costs

2016 2015
Interest income 4 4
Currency gains 44 63
Other financial income 2 2
Total other financial income 50 69

Interest costs 22 22
Currency losses 36 59
Other financial costs 7 7
Total other financial costs 65 88

Note 6 - Tangible fixed assets, intangible assets and goodwill

Machinery and Vehicles Buildings Intangible Goodwill* Total
fixtures assets

Acquisition cost at 1 Jan. 965 85 324 357 191 1 922
Additions in connection with acquisition of companies 11 9 61 -                            2                         82
Additions 86 71 42 107 - 306
Disposals (66) (53) -                            (7) -                          (127)
Currency translation difference (20) - (2) 1 (9) (30)
Acquisition cost at 31 Dec. 977 112 424 458 183 2 154
Accumulated depreciation at 1 Jan. 637 10 173 177 135 1 132
Additions in connection with acquisition of companies 7 3 15 -                            -                          25
Year's depreciation and write-downs 91 23 25 59 16 213
Disposals (67) (16) -                            -                            -                          (83)
Currency translation difference (12) -                             -                            1 (5) (16)
Depreciated at 31 Dec. 656 19 213 237 145 1 271
Carrying amount at 31 Dec. 321 92 211 221 38 883
* Goodwill in connection with acquisition of new companies, and goodwill in company financial statements. 

Straight-line depreciation plan 3–7 years 3–7 years 20–50 years 3–10 years 5–10 years

Annual rental of off balance sheet business assets 50 347 397

Duration of rental of business assets 1–5 years 1–5 years 1–15 years

Depreciation time on goodwill that represents strategic investments is normally over 10 years. These are investments where MøllerGruppen has a long-term perspective and 
that are within the Group's core business. Other items are depreciated over 5 years. Intangible assets of NOK 221 million concern software and development costs for IT 
systems.
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Specification of goodwill / badwill in connection with acquisitions:
Business unit Acquisition Depreciation Acquisition Accumulated Carrying Year's 

date period cost* depreciation* amount* depreciation
Car Dealers Norway 2016 10 years 2 -                            2 -                          
Car Dealers Sweden 2014 10 years 27 6 21 3

2011 10 years 30 17 13 3
Car Dealers Sweden 2008 10 years 38 37 1 4
Car Dealers Sweden 2007 10 years 7 6 1 1
Car Dealers Norway 2007 10 years 48 48 -                          5
Total goodwill / badwill in connection with acquisitions 150 114 38 16
* Incl. currency translation difference

Note 7 - Investments in other shares and units 

Note 8 - Pensions 

2016 2015
Interest cost of pension liabilities 1 3
Year's pension costs for funded and unfunded pensions 1 3
Defined-contribution pension 94 92
Defined-benefit pension not calculated by an actuary 43 40
Total pension costs 138 136

Carrying amount pension obligations calculated by an actuary  
Carrying amount pension liabilities at 1 Jan. 2016 (57) (39)
Effect of change in accounting policy -                          (12)
Calculated pension liabilities at 1 Jan. 2016 (57) (51)
The year's actuarial gains / losses charged directly to equity -                          (1)
The year's pension costs (1) (3)
The year's pension payments 2                         3
Currency translation difference 4                         (5)
Pension liabilities (51) (57)

Number of people covered by all pension plans 3 305 3 278

Financial assumptions Sweden Norway
Return on pension assets - 0,0 %
Discount rate 3,8 % 2,1 %
Annual salary growth / annual G adjustment 2,0 % 2,3 %

The actuarial assumptions relating to demographic factors are the normal assumptions used by the insurance industry, adapted to the Group's 
age structure and retirement. All pension liabilities include the employers' National Insurance contribution.

Car Dealers Baltics

The Norwegian and Swedish companies in the Group have secured collective pension agreements. The companies in the three Baltic States do not have pension plans. 
In Norway we have an ongoing defined-contribution scheme. The defined-contribution plan is charged as a cost on an ongoing basis in the financial statements as the 
Group pays an amount of savings to the insurance company based on the individual employee's salary. On 1 January 2015 the scheme was adapted to comply with the 
new Act on occupational pensions: the threshold between the lower and the higher savings rate was raised from 6 x the National Insurance basic amount ("G") to 7.1 x G. In 
addition to saving for a retirement pension, disability pension and surviving children's pension are also covered. These payments do not have a paid-up policy element, 
meaning there is no future liability related to disability and children's pensions beyond the current premium payments.

The Group is a member of the contractual early retirement scheme (the "AFP" scheme) through the Norwegian Federation of Trade Unions (LO) and the Confederation of 
Norwegian Enterprise (NHO). The former AFP scheme was completely phased out in 2015, meaning there is no outstanding liability related to this scheme. Unlike the old 
scheme the new AFP scheme is not an early retirement scheme, but rather a scheme that provides a life-long supplement to the standard pension. Employees can choose 
to start drawing on the AFP pension scheme from the age of 62. The new pension scheme is a defined-benefit, multi-employer pension plan funded by premiums that are 
determined as a percentage of the individual's salary. There is no reliable measurement and allocation of liabilities and assets in the scheme. Therefore, in the financial 
statements the scheme is treated as a defined-contribution pension scheme where the premium payments are charged as a cost on an ongoing basis and no provisions are 
made in the financial statements. In 2016 premiums were paid into the new scheme for employees aged up to and including 61 at a rate of 2.5% of the total salary payments 
between 1 G and 7.1 G.

Our Swedish companies have pension plans in accordance with a collective agreement. The scheme in Sweden is a combination of defined-benefit and defined-contribution 
plans based on job category, age and income. The defined-benefit plan is partially financed by means of premium payments, while the rest is financed through the 
accumulation of pension liabilities in the balance sheet. The pension liabilities related to the part of the scheme that is not insured are calculated by an actuary. These 
liabilities will be reduced in line with the ongoing pension payments. All future pension savings are now insured, but these amounts are not calculated by an actuary, as the 
scheme is such that assets and liabilities are not allocated directly to the individual company in the collective pension fund. In 2015 MøllerGruppen changed its accounting 
policy on accounting of defined-benefit pensions to IAS 19, cf. the note on accounting policies. This means that on the transition date actuarial gains and/or losses were set 
to zero and charged to equity with NOK 10 million after tax. In accordance with the new policy, the year's actuarial gains and/or losses were charged to equity.

Some subsidiaries in MøllerGruppen have a number of minor equity investments with holdings of 20–35%, such as repair and lacquer workshops and the tyre hotel. These 
are not treated as associated companies since they have limited value and small profits. At 31 December 2016 these investments had a total carrying amount of NOK 2 
million.

Note 9 - Stock

2016 2015
New cars 1 569 1 216
Used cars and demonstration cars 1 715 1 566
Parts and equipment 255 267
Other stock 7 13
Total stock 3 546 3 062

Note 10 - Accounts receivable

2016 2015
Accounts receivable 1 449 1 177
Provisions for bad debt (10) (12)
Accounts receivable Aars Group -                          1
Total accounts receivable 1 439 1 166

Note 11 - Other receivables

2016 2015
Loans to employees 14 16
Other non-current receivables -                          15
Total non-current receivables 14 31

2016 2015
Advances to suppliers 9 12
Loans to employees 17 22
Net VAT credit 3 3
Other prepaid expenses 116 94
Accrued income 124 128
Other current receivables 87 127
Total current receivables 356 385

Note 12 - Bank deposits
The Group has bank deposits totalling NOK 32 million. There are no restricted funds to cover tax owed. Tax deductions are secured by a bank guarantee.

Note 13 - Share capital and shareholder information

Shareholders in MøllerGruppen Bil AS at 31 Dec. 2016 Number Stake
A shares:
Jan H. Møller 103 0,375 %
B shares:
Jan H. Møller 1 0,004 %
Aars AS 24 778 90,102 %
Møller MI AS 2 618 9,520 %
Total 27 500 100,00 %

The share capital consists of 27,500 shares with a nominal value of NOK 1,734, in total NOK 48 million. There are two classes of share. All shares have 
equal voting rights. Aars AS votes for 82.9% of the shares directly and indirectly through Møller MI AS. Class A shares are guaranteed an annual dividend
of NOK 5 million, collected from MøllerGruppen AS and Møller Eiendom Holding AS.

Note 14 - Other current liabilities

2016 2015
Provision for warranties and other liabilities 537 489
Accrued costs and prepaid income 453 403
Holiday pay and accrued salary 319 303
Advances from customers 80 82
Other current liabilities 6 -                          
Total other current liabilities 1 396 1 277
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Note 9 - Stock

2016 2015
New cars 1 569 1 216
Used cars and demonstration cars 1 715 1 566
Parts and equipment 255 267
Other stock 7 13
Total stock 3 546 3 062

Note 10 - Accounts receivable

2016 2015
Accounts receivable 1 449 1 177
Provisions for bad debt (10) (12)
Accounts receivable Aars Group -                          1
Total accounts receivable 1 439 1 166

Note 11 - Other receivables

2016 2015
Loans to employees 14 16
Other non-current receivables -                          15
Total non-current receivables 14 31

2016 2015
Advances to suppliers 9 12
Loans to employees 17 22
Net VAT credit 3 3
Other prepaid expenses 116 94
Accrued income 124 128
Other current receivables 87 127
Total current receivables 356 385

Note 12 - Bank deposits
The Group has bank deposits totalling NOK 32 million. There are no restricted funds to cover tax owed. Tax deductions are secured by a bank guarantee.

Note 13 - Share capital and shareholder information

Shareholders in MøllerGruppen Bil AS at 31 Dec. 2016 Number Stake
A shares:
Jan H. Møller 103 0,375 %
B shares:
Jan H. Møller 1 0,004 %
Aars AS 24 778 90,102 %
Møller MI AS 2 618 9,520 %
Total 27 500 100,00 %

The share capital consists of 27,500 shares with a nominal value of NOK 1,734, in total NOK 48 million. There are two classes of share. All shares have 
equal voting rights. Aars AS votes for 82.9% of the shares directly and indirectly through Møller MI AS. Class A shares are guaranteed an annual dividend
of NOK 5 million, collected from MøllerGruppen AS and Møller Eiendom Holding AS.

Note 14 - Other current liabilities

2016 2015
Provision for warranties and other liabilities 537 489
Accrued costs and prepaid income 453 403
Holiday pay and accrued salary 319 303
Advances from customers 80 82
Other current liabilities 6 -                          
Total other current liabilities 1 396 1 277
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Note 15 - Related parties

Company Company relationship Transaction type 2016 2015
Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS Associated company Sale of cars 3 392 2 342
Total sales 3 392 2 342

Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS Associated company Purchase of cars 1 061 1 185
Møller Eiendom Associated group Rent costs 165 192
Total purchases 1 226 1 377

Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS Associated company Outstanding at 31 Dec. 128 123
Aars AS Parent Outstanding at 31 Dec. 147 318

Note 16 - Pledges, guarantees and commitments 

2016 2015
Fixtures 42 44
Accounts receivable and stock 532 471
Total carrying amount of assets with encumbrances 574 515

Guarantees 2016 2015
Repurchase agreements for cars 6 646 5 183
Vehicle import duty, Customs Region Oslo and Akershus 135 126
Withholding tax 111 107
Employees 5 9

Note 17 - Share capital

2016 Majority Minorities Total
Equity at 1 Jan. 2016 2 580 44 2 624
Profit/(loss) for the year 897 15 912
Annual dividend * (548) (6) (554)
Group contributions (7) -                          (7)
Currency translation differences this year, etc. (40) -                          (40)
Equity at 31 Dec. 2016 2 881 53 2 934
* Includes an additional dividend of NOK 390 million

Accumulated translation differences at 31 December 2016 amounted to NOK 67 million.

2015 Majority Minorities Total
Equity at 1 Jan. 2015 2 287 37 2 324
Profit/(loss) for the year 812 12 824
Annual dividend (551) (5) (556)
Group contributions (4) -                          (4)
Change in accounting policy for pensions in Sweden (after tax) (10) -                          (10)
Currency translation differences this year, etc. 46 -                          46
Equity at 31 Dec. 2015 2 580 44 2 624

MøllerGruppen AS has a committed credit facility totalling NOK 1,000 million. Subsidiaries that comprise more than 80% of gross turnover and equity in the Group are 
guarantors. At 31 December 2016, NOK 300 million had been drawn on this facility. MøllerGruppen also has an overdraft facility of NOK 100 million for Norway and Sweden, 
which is secured through joint and several liability (group account schemes). At 31 December 2016, NOK 0.4 million had been drawn on this facility. The Group's company in 
Latvia has an overdraft facility of EUR 4 million, secured by a guarantee from MøllerGruppen. At 31 December 2016, EUR 3 million of this facility had been drawn. The 
companies in Latvia have an overdraft facility of EUR 9.5 million, on which EUR 4 million had been drawn at 31 December 2016.

The guarantees for employees concern shareholders in Møller MI AS who have loans in Nordea that amounted to NOK 5 million at 31 December 2016. The guarantee is 
secured by collateral in shares. The Group companies included in the joint registration of VAT have joint and several liability for any debt. At 31 December 2016 
MøllerGruppen AS owed NOK 81 million in VAT, via the joint registration registered in Aars AS. 

In 2014, MøllerGruppen's companies in Latvia were imposed a corporate fine totalling EUR 7 million because of alleged price-fixing. MøllerGruppen strongly disagrees with 
the grounds for the fine and holds that the fine is disproportionate and discriminatory in relation to the alleged violations. The case has been brought before the Latvian courts, 
and the trial started in January 2016. A ruling is expected during the course of 2017. No provisions have been made for this in the financial statements for 2016. 

Note 9 - Stock

2016 2015
New cars 1 569 1 216
Used cars and demonstration cars 1 715 1 566
Parts and equipment 255 267
Other stock 7 13
Total stock 3 546 3 062

Note 10 - Accounts receivable

2016 2015
Accounts receivable 1 449 1 177
Provisions for bad debt (10) (12)
Accounts receivable Aars Group -                          1
Total accounts receivable 1 439 1 166

Note 11 - Other receivables

2016 2015
Loans to employees 14 16
Other non-current receivables -                          15
Total non-current receivables 14 31

2016 2015
Advances to suppliers 9 12
Loans to employees 17 22
Net VAT credit 3 3
Other prepaid expenses 116 94
Accrued income 124 128
Other current receivables 87 127
Total current receivables 356 385

Note 12 - Bank deposits
The Group has bank deposits totalling NOK 32 million. There are no restricted funds to cover tax owed. Tax deductions are secured by a bank guarantee.

Note 13 - Share capital and shareholder information

Shareholders in MøllerGruppen Bil AS at 31 Dec. 2016 Number Stake
A shares:
Jan H. Møller 103 0,375 %
B shares:
Jan H. Møller 1 0,004 %
Aars AS 24 778 90,102 %
Møller MI AS 2 618 9,520 %
Total 27 500 100,00 %

The share capital consists of 27,500 shares with a nominal value of NOK 1,734, in total NOK 48 million. There are two classes of share. All shares have 
equal voting rights. Aars AS votes for 82.9% of the shares directly and indirectly through Møller MI AS. Class A shares are guaranteed an annual dividend
of NOK 5 million, collected from MøllerGruppen AS and Møller Eiendom Holding AS.

Note 14 - Other current liabilities

2016 2015
Provision for warranties and other liabilities 537 489
Accrued costs and prepaid income 453 403
Holiday pay and accrued salary 319 303
Advances from customers 80 82
Other current liabilities 6 -                          
Total other current liabilities 1 396 1 277



46 MØLLERGRUPPEN'S ANNUAL AND CSR REPORT 2016 • CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 15 - Related parties

Company Company relationship Transaction type 2016 2015
Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS Associated company Sale of cars 3 392 2 342
Total sales 3 392 2 342

Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS Associated company Purchase of cars 1 061 1 185
Møller Eiendom Associated group Rent costs 165 192
Total purchases 1 226 1 377

Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS Associated company Outstanding at 31 Dec. 128 123
Aars AS Parent Outstanding at 31 Dec. 147 318

Note 16 - Pledges, guarantees and commitments 

2016 2015
Fixtures 42 44
Accounts receivable and stock 532 471
Total carrying amount of assets with encumbrances 574 515

Guarantees 2016 2015
Repurchase agreements for cars 6 646 5 183
Vehicle import duty, Customs Region Oslo and Akershus 135 126
Withholding tax 111 107
Employees 5 9

Note 17 - Share capital

2016 Majority Minorities Total
Equity at 1 Jan. 2016 2 580 44 2 624
Profit/(loss) for the year 897 15 912
Annual dividend * (548) (6) (554)
Group contributions (7) -                          (7)
Currency translation differences this year, etc. (40) -                          (40)
Equity at 31 Dec. 2016 2 881 53 2 934
* Includes an additional dividend of NOK 390 million

Accumulate currency translation differences at 31 December 2016 amounted to NOK 67 million.

2015 Majority Minorities Total
Equity at 1 Jan. 2015 2 287 37 2 324
Profit/(loss) for the year 812 12 824
Annual dividend (551) (5) (556)
Group contributions (4) -                          (4)
Change in accounting policy for pensions in Sweden (after tax) (10) -                          (10)
Currency translation differences this year, etc. 46 -                          46
Equity at 31 Dec. 2015 2 580 44 2 624

MøllerGruppen AS has a committed credit facility totalling NOK 1,000 million. Subsidiaries that comprise more than 80% of gross turnover and equity in the Group are 
guarantors. At 31 December 2016, NOK 300 million had been drawn on this facility. MøllerGruppen also has an overdraft facility of NOK 100 million for Norway and Sweden, 
which is secured through joint and several liability (group account schemes). At 31 December 2016, NOK 0.4 million had been drawn on this facility. The Group's company in 
Latvia has an overdraft facility of EUR 4 million, secured by a guarantee from MøllerGruppen. At 31 December 2016, EUR 3 million of this facility had been drawn. The 
companies in Latvia have an overdraft facility of EUR 9.5 million, on which EUR 4 million had been drawn at 31 December 2016.

The guarantees for employees concern shareholders in Møller MI AS who have loans in Nordea that amounted to NOK 5 million at 31 December 2016. The guarantee is 
secured by collateral in shares. The Group companies included in the joint registration of VAT have joint and several liability for any debt. At 31 December 2016 
MøllerGruppen AS owed NOK 81 million in VAT, via the joint registration registered in Aars AS. 

In 2014, MøllerGruppen's companies in Latvia were imposed a corporate fine totalling EUR 7 million because of alleged price-fixing. MøllerGruppen strongly disagrees with 
the grounds for the fine and holds that the fine is disproportionate and discriminatory in relation to the alleged violations. The case has been brought before the Latvian courts, 
and the trial started in January 2016. A ruling is expected during the course of 2017. No provisions have been made for this in the financial statements for 2016. 
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Note 18 - Debt, financing and financial risk

2016 2015
Withdrawals from committed credit facilities 300 200
Market loans -                          20
Overdraft 72 180
Total current interest-bearing liabilities 372 400

Bond issue 600 400
Arrangement costs (3) (1)
Total bond issue 597 399
Other long-term interest-bearing liabilities 16 13
Total non-current interest-bearing liabilities 613 413

Maturity
Due in less than 2 years 372 400
Due in 2–5 years 613 413
Total 985 813

Key figures
Unused committed credit facilities 860 952

Current liabilities
MøllerGruppen has a committed credit facility of NOK 1,000 million that runs until 2021. The credit facilities are not secured, but all significant companies in MøllerGruppen 
are jointly and severally liable for the liabilities. MøllerGruppen AS is the registered borrower. At 31 December 2016, NOK 300 million had been drawn on this facility. There 
are requirements (covenants) concerning financial key figures in the contract, linked to equity and cash flow, which are fulfilled at the end of the year. These liabilities are 
classified as current liabilities since all withdrawals from the facility will be of a short-term nature. 

Non-current liabilities
MøllerGruppen has long-term financing through a bond issue of NOK 600 million. This bond will mature in November 2019. 

Financial risk
The Group has companies involved in selling, financing and servicing cars. The Group's activities involve financial risk associated with currency, rates, credit and liquidity. The 
Group manages risk with the objective of ensuring predictable cash flows and to ensure sufficient liquidity to meet natural fluctuations in working capital.

Currency risk
The Group sells products in local currency. In Norway, the Group is exposed to short-term currency risk relating to imports of products in EUR. Car manufacturers bear 
significant long-term currency risk through agreements. Attempts are made to hedge the short-term currency risk by using forward contracts. The contracts are market-
assessed (mark-to-market) and the value is recorded as foreign exchange gains at year-end. Unrealised exchange losses of NOK 4.2 million were recognised in the income 
statement at year-end 2013.

In addition the Group has currency risk associated with the Swedish and Baltic companies. The risks are mitigated by having local external liabilities in local 
currency. MøllerGruppen does not generally secure the equity in foreign companies, but strives to secure the following year's expected dividend for one year at a time. At 
year-end MøllerGruppen has secured SEK 24 million and EUR 3 million. Unrealised exchange gains amounted to NOK 0.2 million at the end of the year. 

Interest rate risk
MøllerGruppen is largely financed through a long-term bond issue with a floating interest rate. This entails a risk related to developments in interest costs. This risk is partially 
hedged by a portion of the debt being swapped to fixed interest rates through interest rate swaps. At 31 December 2016, the Group had interest rate swap agreements of 
NOK 400 million with an average fixed interest rate of 1.85% and a remaining term corresponding to the underlying loan. The interest swap agreements hedge 67% of the 
interest costs related to the bond issue at year-end. The date for determining the liquid element in the hedging contract is adapted according to the rollover of the underlying 
loans. The agreements were signed with a view to running until maturity. In light of this, MøllerGruppen has chosen to record the agreements as hedge agreements, which 
means that ongoing changes in market value are not recorded in the income statement. At the balance sheet date, the market value of the contract is positive in the amount of 
NOK 1.2 million.

Credit risk
A significant part of the Group's turnover is cash-based. There will be a temporary credit risk associated with sales by importer companies to external dealers and in cases 
where cars or workshop services are sold on credit. The risks are hedged with tight credit procedures and close monitoring of outstanding accounts receivable. Historically, 
losses have been low.

Liquidity risk
The Group operates in a cyclical industry with relatively large fluctuations in working capital. There is therefore a risk associated with short-term access to liquidity. This is 
hedged by having flexible, committed framework financing of NOK 1 billion where withdrawals are regulated according to need. 

Repurchase agreements
The Group has risk associated with repurchase agreements. Total repurchase agreement liabilities were NOK 6.6 billion at 31 December 2016. The risk is associated with 
future market prices for used cars. The risk is hedged through certain procedures for entering contracts and returning cars. A continuous assessment of the liabilities is 
conducted, and provisions are made for any anticipated losses. 
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Note 19 - Taxes

Taxes in the income statement 
2016 2015

Profit/(loss) before tax 1 180 1 103

Tax payable in Norway 284 257
Tax payable abroad 20 18
Tax on paid group contributions 2 1
Total tax payable 306 276

Change in deferred tax (48) (14)
Effect of change in tax rate in Norway from 27% to 25% 9 17
Tax cost 268 279
Profit/(loss) for the year 912 824

Effective tax rate 22,7 % 25,3 %

25% of the profit before tax 295 298
Actual tax cost 268 279
Deviation tax cost 27 19
The deviation comprises:
Permanent differences (including tax-free gains and dividends) 6 (11)
Profits in associated companies (31) (24)
Amortisation goodwill / excess value buildings 3 3
Foreign companies (lower tax rate) (9) (5)
Effect of changed tax rate in Norway 9 17
Shortfall / excess calculated tax in previous years (5) 1
Total (27) (19)

Tax on balance sheet

The calculation of deferred tax takes into account the following temporary differences: 2016 2015
Accounts receivable and other receivables 6 8
Stock 285 227
Tangible fixed assets (48) (33)
Current and non-current liabilities 691 607
Pensions 15 26
Profit and loss account - 7
Deferred losses 18 16
Latent dividend tax – Estonia (57) (120)
Total deferred tax 908 738

Norway 25% 223 197
Sweden 22% (11) (7)
Lithuania and Latvia 15% 13 15
Estonia 20% (11) (25)
Net deferred tax 214 180

Deferred tax asset on balance sheet 238 214
Deferred tax liability on balance sheet (24) (34)
Carrying amount net deferred tax 214 180
Deferred tax is included on the balance sheet as net within the various tax groups.

Change in deferred tax on the balance sheet is arrived at as follows:
Deferred tax at 1 Jan. 180 177
Additions / disposals acquired / sold companies 1 (1)
Currency adjustment  - (1)
Deferred tax linked to internal profits in AC during the year* (16) 4
Changes in deferred tax due to change in accounting policy for pensions in Sweden, charged directly to equity - 3
Year's recognised change in deferred tax 38 (2)
Tax paid on dividends from Estonia 10 -
Net deferred tax at 31 Dec. 213 180
* Deferred tax linked to internal profits in AC (associated companies) is recognised on the balance sheet as part of the investment.

The tax payable on the balance sheet is arrived at as follows:
Tax payable on the income statement 306 276
Prepaid tax abroad (11) (16)
Tax on paid group contributions (2) (1)
Tax payable owed 293 259

The income tax rates in Norway, Sweden, Lithuania and Latvia in 2015 were 27%, 22%, 15% and 15%, respectively. From 2016, the tax rate in Norway will be 25%. Estonia 
does not have income tax; it has dividend tax. Latent tax has been allocated dividends.

Note 18 - Debt, financing and financial risk

2016 2015
Withdrawals from committed credit facilities 300 200
Market loans -                          20
Overdraft 72 180
Total current interest-bearing liabilities 372 400

Bond issue 600 400
Arrangement costs (3) (1)
Total bond issue 597 399
Other long-term interest-bearing liabilities 16 13
Total non-current interest-bearing liabilities 613 413

Maturity
Due in less than 2 years 372 400
Due in 2–5 years 613 413
Total 985 813

Key figures
Unused committed credit facilities 860 952

Current liabilities
MøllerGruppen has a committed credit facility of NOK 1,000 million that runs until 2021. The credit facilities are not secured, but all significant companies in MøllerGruppen 
are jointly and severally liable for the liabilities. MøllerGruppen AS is the registered borrower. At 31 December 2016, NOK 300 million had been drawn on this facility. There 
are requirements (covenants) concerning financial key figures in the contract, linked to equity and cash flow, which are fulfilled at the end of the year. These liabilities are 
classified as current liabilities since all withdrawals from the facility will be of a short-term nature. 

Non-current liabilities
MøllerGruppen has long-term financing through a bond issue of NOK 600 million. This bond will mature in November 2019. 

Financial risk
The Group has companies involved in selling, financing and servicing cars. The Group's activities involve financial risk associated with currency, rates, credit and liquidity. The 
Group manages risk with the objective of ensuring predictable cash flows and to ensure sufficient liquidity to meet natural fluctuations in working capital.

Currency risk
The Group sells products in local currency. In Norway, the Group is exposed to short-term currency risk relating to imports of products in EUR. Car manufacturers bear 
significant long-term currency risk through agreements. Attempts are made to hedge the short-term currency risk by using forward contracts. The contracts are market-
assessed (mark-to-market) and the value is recorded as foreign exchange gains at year-end. Unrealised exchange losses of NOK 4.2 million were recognised in the income 
statement at year-end 2013.

In addition the Group has currency risk associated with the Swedish and Baltic companies. The risks are mitigated by having local external liabilities in local 
currency. MøllerGruppen does not generally secure the equity in foreign companies, but strives to secure the following year's expected dividend for one year at a time. At 
year-end MøllerGruppen has secured SEK 24 million and EUR 3 million. Unrealised exchange gains amounted to NOK 0.2 million at the end of the year. 

Interest rate risk
MøllerGruppen is largely financed through a long-term bond issue with a floating interest rate. This entails a risk related to developments in interest costs. This risk is partially 
hedged by a portion of the debt being swapped to fixed interest rates through interest rate swaps. At 31 December 2016, the Group had interest rate swap agreements of 
NOK 400 million with an average fixed interest rate of 1.85% and a remaining term corresponding to the underlying loan. The interest swap agreements hedge 67% of the 
interest costs related to the bond issue at year-end. The date for determining the liquid element in the hedging contract is adapted according to the rollover of the underlying 
loans. The agreements were signed with a view to running until maturity. In light of this, MøllerGruppen has chosen to record the agreements as hedge agreements, which 
means that ongoing changes in market value are not recorded in the income statement. At the balance sheet date, the market value of the contract is positive in the amount of 
NOK 1.2 million.

Credit risk
A significant part of the Group's turnover is cash-based. There will be a temporary credit risk associated with sales by importer companies to external dealers and in cases 
where cars or workshop services are sold on credit. The risks are hedged with tight credit procedures and close monitoring of outstanding accounts receivable. Historically, 
losses have been low.

Liquidity risk
The Group operates in a cyclical industry with relatively large fluctuations in working capital. There is therefore a risk associated with short-term access to liquidity. This is 
hedged by having flexible, committed framework financing of NOK 1 billion where withdrawals are regulated according to need. 

Repurchase agreements
The Group has risk associated with repurchase agreements. Total repurchase agreement liabilities were NOK 6.6 billion at 31 December 2016. The risk is associated with 
future market prices for used cars. The risk is hedged through certain procedures for entering contracts and returning cars. A continuous assessment of the liabilities is 
conducted, and provisions are made for any anticipated losses. 
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Note 19 - Taxes

Taxes in the income statement 
2016 2015

Profit/(loss) before tax 1 180 1 103

Tax payable in Norway 284 257
Tax payable abroad 20 18
Tax on paid group contributions 2 1
Total tax payable 306 276

Change in deferred tax (48) (14)
Effect of change in tax rate in Norway from 27% to 25% 9 17
Tax cost 268 279
Profit/(loss) for the year 912 824

Effective tax rate 22,7 % 25,3 %

25% of the profit before tax 295 298
Actual tax cost 268 279
Deviation tax cost 27 19
The deviation comprises:
Permanent differences (including tax-free gains and dividends) 6 (11)
Profits in associated companies (31) (24)
Amortisation goodwill / excess value buildings 3 3
Foreign companies (lower tax rate) (9) (5)
Effect of changed tax rate in Norway 9 17
Shortfall / excess calculated tax in previous years (5) 1
Total (27) (19)

Tax on balance sheet

The calculation of deferred tax takes into account the following temporary differences: 2016 2015
Accounts receivable and other receivables 6 8
Stock 285 227
Tangible fixed assets (48) (33)
Current and non-current liabilities 691 607
Pensions 15 26
Profit and loss account - 7
Deferred losses 18 16
Latent dividend tax – Estonia (57) (120)
Total deferred tax 908 738

Norway 25% 223 197
Sweden 22% (11) (7)
Lithuania and Latvia 15% 13 15
Estonia 20% (11) (25)
Net deferred tax 214 180

Deferred tax asset on balance sheet 238 214
Deferred tax liability on balance sheet (24) (34)
Carrying amount net deferred tax 214 180
Deferred tax is included on the balance sheet as net within the various tax groups.

Change in deferred tax on the balance sheet is arrived at as follows:
Deferred tax at 1 Jan. 180 177
Additions / disposals acquired / sold companies 1 (1)
Currency adjustment  - (1)
Deferred tax linked to internal profits in AC during the year* (16) 4
Changes in deferred tax due to change in accounting policy for pensions in Sweden, charged directly to equity - 3
Year's recognised change in deferred tax 38 (2)
Tax paid on dividends from Estonia 10 -
Net deferred tax at 31 Dec. 213 180
* Deferred tax linked to internal profits in AC (associated companies) is recognised on the balance sheet as part of the investment.

The tax payable on the balance sheet is arrived at as follows:
Tax payable on the income statement 306 276
Prepaid tax abroad (11) (16)
Tax on paid group contributions (2) (1)
Tax payable owed 293 259

The income tax rates in Norway, Sweden, Lithuania and Latvia in 2015 were 27%, 22%, 15% and 15%, respectively. From 2016, the tax rate in Norway will be 25%. Estonia 
does not have income tax; it has dividend tax. Latent tax has been allocated dividends.
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Note 20 - Significant transactions in the financial year 
Transactions in 2016

This transaction had the following effect on the consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2016:
 Sales  Added value  Total 

Cash                          12                        12 
Accounts receivable 8                          8 
Business assets 37 17                                              54 
Stock 34                        34 
Other assets 2                          2 
Accounts payable (12)                       (12)
Other interest-free liabilities (17)                       (17)
Interest-bearing liabilities (27)                       (27)
Net identifiable assets 38 17 55

Goodwill 2                         2
Sales sum 38 19 57

Paid in cash 57
Acquired cash 12
Net cash out 45

Transactions in 2015

This transaction had the following effect on the consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2015:
 Sales 

Accounts receivable (12)
Business assets (7)
Stock (41)
Other assets (2)
Accounts payable 11
Other interest-free liabilities 19
Interest-bearing liabilities 18
Net identifiable assets (14)

Gains from sales (55)
Sales sum (69)

Paid in cash (54)
Seller's credit (15)
Net sales sum (69)

On 28 February 2015 MøllerGruppen sold 100% of the shares in Møller Bil Fredrikstad.

On 20 October MøllerGruppen acquired 100% of the shares in Orkdal Bil AS and Orkdal Eiendom AS, plus 52% of the shares in Bilsenteret Bjugn AS.
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Financial statements 
MøllerGruppen AS
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Income statement INCOME STATEMENT MØLLERGRUPPEN AS 

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2016 2015
OPERATING REVENUE
Other operating revenue 37 33
Total operating revenue 37 33

OPERATING COSTS
Payroll and other personnel costs 1 62 60
Depreciation and write-downs 4 5 4
Other operating costs 34 35
Total operating costs 101 99
OPERATING PROFIT/(LOSS) (64) (66)

FINANCIAL ITEMS
Income from investments in subsidiaries 2 890 631
Interest income from group companies 28 34
Other financial income 3 36 54
Interest costs from group companies -                        -                        
Other financial costs 3 (53) (73)
Total financial items 901 646

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 837 581

Taxes 13 211 5
NET PROFIT 626 576

Proposed allocations in MøllerGruppen AS:
Group contributions after tax (7) (4)
Dividends (158) (351)
Transferred to/(from) other equity (461) (221)
Allocated (626) (576)

Additional dividends decided before AGM date (390) (200)
From other equity 390 200
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Balance sheetMØLLERGRUPPEN AS' ASSETS AT 31 DEC. 

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2016 2015
ASSETS
Deferred tax asset 13 -                        1
Intangible assets 4 13 15
Total intangible assets 13 16

Tangible fixed assets 4 24 22

Investments in subsidiaries 5 558 552
Investments in associated companies 6 571 571
Investments in shares 1 1
Group receivables 8 1 220 1 195
Other receivables 6 21
Total financial fixed assets 2 355 2 339

TOTAL FIXED ASSETS 2 391 2 376

Accounts receivable -                        5
Other receivables 7 5
Group receivables 8 891 640
Total receivables 898 650

Cash and cash equivalents 9 7                            74                           

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 905 724

TOTAL ASSETS 3 296 3 100
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Balance sheetEQUITY AND LIABILITIES MØLLERGRUPPEN AS AT 31 DEC. 

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2016 2015
EQUITY
Share capital 48 48
Other paid-in equity 1 1
Other equity 1 901 1 830
TOTAL EQUITY 11 1 950 1 879

LIABILITIES
Pension liabilities 7 1 1
Total provisions for liabilities 1 1

Bond loans 597 399
Liabilities to group companies 8 20 33
Other non-current liabilities 16 12
Total non-current liabilities 632 443

Liabilities to financial institutions 300 325
Accounts payable 4 5
Tax payable 13 205 -                              
Public duties payable 4 4
Dividends and group contributions 8 167 356
Other current liabilities 24 24
Liabilities to group companies 8 9 62
Total current liabilities 713 777

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1 346 1 221

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 3 296 3 100

....................................
Harald Møller

Chair	of	the	Board

....................................
Jacob Schram
Board	member

...........................................
Øyvind Schage Førde

Board	member

..........................................
Kristin Solheim Genton

Board	member

....................................
Jon Morten Møller
Board	member

....................................
Jan Tellef  Thorleifsson

Board	member

...................................
Terje Male
Group	CEO

Oslo,	30	March	2017
The	Board	of	Directors	of	MøllerGruppen	AS:	

The Board of Directors of MøllerGruppen AS
Oslo, 30 March 2017

 Harald A. Møller Øyvind Schage Førde Jon Morten Møller Jacob Schram
 Chairman of the Board Board member Board member Board member

 Kristin Solheim Genton Jan Tellef Thorleifsson Terje Male
 Board member Board member CEO 
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Cash flow statementCASH FLOW STATEMENT MØLLERGRUPPEN AS

(Amounts in NOK millions) 2016 2015
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS
Ordinary profit/(loss) before tax 837 580
Recognised dividends / group contributions 2 (890) (631)
Gains from sale of fixed assets / companies 0 (4)
Depreciation 4 5 4
Taxes paid during the period (1) (15)
Change in accounts receivable and payables 3 31
Change in intra-group receivables / liabilities (79) (32)
Change in other items 14 (7)
Net cash flow from operations (111) (74)

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENTS
Investment in tangible fixed assets (14) (23)
Sales of tangible fixed assets 9 6
Liquidation of Bilfinans - 4
Capital contributions in AC shares - (123)
Received dividends / group contributions 631 425
Net cash flow from investments 627 290

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING
Group contributions paid (18) (71)
Annual dividend (351) (10)
Additional dividends (390) (200)
Payment / repayment of private long-term borrowings 4 (4)
New / repayment of long-term debt 298 50
Net cash flow from financing  (457) (234)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents during year 58 (18)
Cash reserve at 1 Jan. (52) (33)
Cash reserve at 31 Dec. 7 (52)

Specification of cash reserve at 31 Dec.
Means of payment 9 7                             74                           
Liabilities to financial institutions 12 - (105)
Market loans 12 - (20)
Cash reserve at 31 Dec. 7                             (52)
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NOTES MØLLERGRUPPEN AS 

All figures are in NOK millions.

Note 1 - Payroll and other personnel costs

2016 2015
Salaries 48 44
Employer's NI contributions 7 7
Pension costs 2 2
Other personnel costs 5 8
Total payroll and other personnel costs 62 60

Average number of employees 23 22
Loans to employees 1 1

Loans to employees are mainly interest-bearing car loans where the company has security in a car. The interest rate on these loans is 2.5%. For information about the remuneration of senior executives, 
including the salary of the CEO of MøllerGruppen AS, see note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

Remuneration to the auditors in 2016 amounted to NOK 401,900 for auditing and NOK 20,990 for audit-related assistance. All amounts are stated exclusive of VAT.

Note 2 - Income from investments in subsidiaries

2016 2015
Harald A. Møller AS 620 444
Møller Bil AS 270 187
Total income from investments in subsidiaries 890 631

Note 3 - Other financial income and financial costs

2016 2015
Currency gains 34 53
Other financial income 2 1
Total other financial income 36 54

Currency losses 33 52
Other financial costs 20 21
Total other financial costs 53 73

Note 4 - Tangible fixed assets and intangible assets 

Tangible Intangible Total
fixed assets* assets

Acquisition cost at 1 Jan. 24 16 40
Additions 14 -                          14
Disposals (12) -                          (12)
Acquisition cost at 31 Dec. 26 16 42
Accumulated depreciation at 1 Jan. 2 2 4
Year's depreciation and write-downs 3 2 5
Disposals (3) -                          (3)
Depreciated at 31 Dec. 2 3 6
Carrying amount at 31 Dec. 24 13 36

Straight-line depreciation plan 3–7 years 3–10 years
* Cars, fixtures and furnishings 

Notes
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NOTES MØLLERGRUPPEN AS 

All figures are in NOK millions.

Note 1 - Payroll and other personnel costs

2016 2015
Salaries 48 44
Employer's NI contributions 7 7
Pension costs 2 2
Other personnel costs 5 8
Total payroll and other personnel costs 62 60

Average number of employees 23 22
Loans to employees 1 1

Loans to employees are mainly interest-bearing car loans where the company has security in a car. The interest rate on these loans is 2.5%. For information about the remuneration of senior executives, 
including the salary of the CEO of MøllerGruppen AS, see note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

Remuneration to the auditors in 2016 amounted to NOK 401,900 for auditing and NOK 20,990 for audit-related assistance. All amounts are stated exclusive of VAT.

Note 2 - Income from investments in subsidiaries

2016 2015
Harald A. Møller AS 620 444
Møller Bil AS 270 187
Total income from investments in subsidiaries 890 631

Note 3 - Other financial income and financial costs

2016 2015
Currency gains 34 53
Other financial income 2 1
Total other financial income 36 54

Currency losses 33 52
Other financial costs 20 21
Total other financial costs 53 73

Note 4 - Tangible fixed assets and intangible assets 

Tangible Intangible Total
fixed assets* assets

Acquisition cost at 1 Jan. 24 16 40
Additions 14 -                          14
Disposals (12) -                          (12)
Acquisition cost at 31 Dec. 26 16 42
Accumulated depreciation at 1 Jan. 2 2 4
Year's depreciation and write-downs 3 2 5
Disposals (3) -                          (3)
Depreciated at 31 Dec. 2 3 6
Carrying amount at 31 Dec. 24 13 36

Straight-line depreciation plan 3–7 years 3–10 years
* Cars, fixtures and furnishings 

Note 5 - Investments in subsidiaries

Business Stake/ Equity Profit/(loss) for Carrying
office voting 31.12.2016 the year 2016* amount

Company name rights
Harald A. Møller AS Oslo 100 % 399 527 353
Møller Bil AS Oslo 100 % 312 176 56
Moller Auto Baltic AS Oslo 100 % 87 36 53
Möller Bil Holding AB Oslo 100 % 144 -                             87
Møller Synergi AS Oslo 100 % 4 -                             9
Total investments in subsidiaries 946 739 558
* Includes dividends received / group contributions from subsidiaries totalling NOK 315 million.

The above table only shows shares owned directly by MøllerGruppen AS. In total, the Group consists of 41 companies directly and indirectly owned by MøllerGruppen AS.

Note 6 - Investments in associated companies

Voting  Equity Profit/(loss) Carrying
rights/ in company  after tax amount 

Company name stake 31.12.2016 2016 31.12.2016
Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS, Oslo 49,0 % 1 984 126 571
Total investments in associated companies 1 984 126 571

The share of the profit/(loss) is not incorporated into the company financial statements; it is only incorporated into the consolidated financial statements of MøllerGruppen. 

Note 7 - Pensions 

Pension costs 2016 2015
Defined-contribution pension 2 2
Pension costs 2 2

Carrying amount net pension obligations  
Calculated pension liabilities (1) (1)
Unrecognised actuarial loss/(gain) -                             -                          
Net carrying amount pension liabilities (1) (1)

Number of people covered by all pension plans 24 24

Financial assumptions
Return on pension assets 0,0 % 0,0 %
Discount rate 2,1 % 2,5 %
Annual salary growth / annual G adjustment 2,3 % 2,3 %

All pension liabilities include the employers' National Insurance contribution.

The company currently has a defined-contribution pension, which has been adapted to comply with the new Act on occupational pensions. The defined-contribution pension is 
covered by the company through ongoing payments to an insurance company. The company has no further obligations beyond this.

The company is a member of the contractual early retirement scheme (the "AFP" scheme) through the Norwegian Federation of Trade Unions (LO) and the Confederation of 
Norwegian Enterprise (NHO). The new AFP scheme is a defined-benefit, multi-employer pension plan, and since the assets cannot be allocated to the individual members, the 
scheme is treated as a defined-contribution plan, and future obligations are not recognised on the balance sheet. The remaining liability on the balance sheet is related to a 
handful of unfunded administrative pensions. 
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Note 5 - Investments in subsidiaries

Business Stake/ EquityProfit/(loss) for the year Carrying
office voting 31.12.2016 2016* amount

Company name rights
Harald A. Møller AS Oslo 100 % 399 527 353
Møller Bil AS Oslo 100 % 312 176 56
Moller Auto Baltic AS Oslo 100 % 87 36 53
Möller Bil Holding AB Oslo 100 % 144 -                          87
Møller Synergi AS Oslo 100 % 4 -                          9
Total investments in subsidiaries 946 739 558
* Includes dividends received / group contributions from subsidiaries totalling NOK 315 million.

The above table only shows shares owned directly by MøllerGruppen AS. In total, the Group consists of 41 companies directly and indirectly owned by MøllerGruppen AS.

Note 6 - Investments in associated companies

Voting  Equity Profit/(loss) Carrying
rights/ in company  after tax amount 

Company name stake 31.12.2016 2016 31.12.2016
Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS, Oslo 49,0 % 1 984 126 571
Total investments in associated companies 1 984 126 571

The share of the profit/(loss) is not incorporated into the company financial statements; it is only incorporated into the consolidated financial statements of MøllerGruppen. 

Note 7 - Pensions 

Pension costs 2016 2015
Defined-contribution pension 2 2
Pension costs 2 2

Carrying amount net pension obligations  
Calculated pension liabilities (1) (1)
Unrecognised actuarial loss/(gain) -                          -                          
Net carrying amount pension liabilities (1) (1)

Number of people covered by all pension plans 24 24

Financial assumptions
Return on pension assets 0,0 % 0,0 %
Discount rate 2,1 % 2,5 %
Annual salary growth / annual G adjustment 2,3 % 2,3 %

All pension liabilities include the employers' National Insurance contribution.

The company currently has a defined-contribution pension, which has been adapted to comply with the new Act on occupational pensions. The defined-contribution pension 
is covered by the company through ongoing payments to an insurance company. The company has no further obligations beyond this.

The company is a member of the contractual early retirement scheme (the "AFP" scheme) through the Norwegian Federation of Trade Unions (LO) and the Confederation of 
Norwegian Enterprise (NHO). The new AFP scheme is a defined-benefit, multi-employer pension plan, and since the assets cannot be allocated to the individual members, 
the scheme is treated as a defined-contribution plan, and future obligations are not recognised on the balance sheet. The remaining liability on the balance sheet is related 
to a handful of unfunded administrative pensions. 
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Note 8 - Balances with companies in the Aars Group

2016 2015
Møller Bil Norge 1 099 984
Møller Bil Sverige 113 199
Moller Auto Baltic 9 12
Total non-current receivables 1 220 1 195

The receivables consist of operating capital and loans to group companies (group account scheme). The receivables are long-term financing of subsidiaries and have no specified
repayment structure. The items must, in their entirety, be regarded as continuing for more than one year after the closure of the financial year.

2016 2015
Bank deposits in subsidiaries (group account scheme) 20 33
Total non-current liabilities 20 33

2016 2015
Receivables from group companies – dividends / group contributions 890 632
Accounts receivable group 1 8
Total current receivables 891 640

2016 2015
Outstanding group contributions 9 5
Dividends 158 351
Total outstanding group contributions and dividends 167 356

Excess liquidity from subsidiaries -                          38
Group contributions to group companies 8 13
Accounts payable group 1 11
Total current liabilities to group companies 9 62

Note 9 - Bank deposits

MøllerGruppen AS has bank deposits totalling NOK 7 million. The company has provided guarantees for NOK 111 million for tax owed by the subsidiaries.

Note 10 - Guarantees and commitments 

Guarantees and commitments 2016 2015
Vehicle import duty, Customs Region Oslo and Akershus 135 126
Withholding tax 111 107
Employees 5 9
Subsidiaries of MøllerGruppen AS in the Baltic States 124 156

Note 11 - Share capital

Share Other paid-in Other Total
capital equity equity

Equity at 1 Jan. 2016 48 1 1 830 1 879
Group contributions paid -                          -                          (7) (7)
Additional dividends -                          -                          (390) (390)
Profit/(loss) for the year -                          -                          626 626
Allocated to dividend -                          -                          (158) (158)
Equity at 31 Dec. 2016 48 1 1 901 1 950

Share Other paid-in Other Total
capital equity equity

Equity at 1 Jan. 2015 48 1 1 809 1 858
Group contributions paid -                          -                          (4) (4)
Additional dividends -                          -                          (200) (200)
Profit/(loss) for the year -                          -                          576 576
Allocated to dividend -                          -                          (351) (351)
Equity at 31 Dec. 2015 48 1 1 830 1 879

For information about share capital and shareholder information, see note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

The guarantees for employees concern shareholders in Møller MI AS who have loans in Nordea that amounted to NOK 5 million at 31 December 2016. The guarantee is 
secured by collateral in shares. Other guarantees concern the subsidiaries. 
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Note 8 - Balances with companies in the Aars Group
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Note 12 - Liabilities, financing and financial risk

Current liabilities 2016 2015
Withdrawals from committed credit facilities 300 200
Market loans -                          20
Overdraft -                          105
Total current interest-bearing liabilities 300 325

Non-current liabilities
Bond loans 600 400
Arrangement costs (3) (1)
Total bond loans 597 399
Other long-term interest-bearing liabilities 16 12
Liabilities to MøllerGruppen group 20 33
Total non-current interest-bearing liabilities 632 443

Due date
Due in less than 2 years 300 220
Due in 2–5 years 632 443
Total 932 663

Key figures
Unused committed credit facilities 860 952

MøllerGruppen AS is the MøllerGruppen group's internal bank. For further information, see note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

Note 13 - Taxes

Taxes in the income statement 
2016 2015

Profit/(loss) before tax 837 581

Tax payable Norway 207 4
Corrections from previous years 1 -
Tax on paid group contributions 2 1
Total tax payable 210 5

Change in deferred tax 1 -
Tax cost 211 5
Profit/(loss) for the year 626 576

Effective tax rate 25,2 % 0,9 %

25% of the profit before tax 209 157
Actual tax cost 211 5
Deviation tax cost (2) 152
The deviation comprises:
Permanent differences (2) (1)
Gains, losses, shares and dividends -                          153
Total (2) 152

Tax on balance sheet
The calculation of deferred tax takes into account the following temporary differences: 2016 2015
Tangible fixed assets 4 3
Unrealised exchange rate losses on forward contracts (3) (6)
Total deferred tax 1 (3)

Norway 24% -                          (1)
Net deferred tax 0 (1)

Deferred tax asset on balance sheet -                          1
Carrying amount net deferred tax 0 1

Change in deferred tax on the balance sheet is arrived at as follows:
Deferred tax at 1 Jan. 1 1
Year's change in deferred tax -                          -                          
Net deferred tax at 31 Dec. 1 1

The tax payable on the balance sheet is arrived at as follows:
Tax payable on the income statement 210 5
Corrections from previous years (1) -
Tax on paid group contributions (4) (5)
Tax payable owed (205) 0

In 2015, income tax was 27%. This has been changed to 25% with effect from 2016. 



62 MØLLERGRUPPEN'S ANNUAL AND CSR REPORT 2016 • FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 12 - Liabilities, financing and financial risk
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MøllerGruppen 
CSR REPORT 2016



MØLLERGRUPPEN’S ANNUAL AND CSR REPORT 2016 

MøllerGruppen continually and systematically focuses on the working 
environment, monitoring employee satisfaction, the opportunities they 
have to use their skills and how they are followed up.

At year-end 2016, the Group had a total of 4,274 employees 
– an increase of 167 from the previous year. There were 653 
employees in Sweden, a total of 672 in the three Baltic States, 
and 2,949 in Norway.

A new employee survey with brand new questions (44 
in total) was conducted in autumn 2016,  with very positive 
findings.  The results are summarised in the graph below in 
the main areas covered by the questions.  The scale is from 
1.0 (lowest) to 5.0 (highest).   On questions that are identi-
cal to surveys in other companies in Norway, MøllerGruppen 
consistently scored higher than average.

The response rate was good (85%), considering we have 
so many employees (within the aftersales market) who do not 
have access to their own computer at work.

VALUES AND CULTURE
MøllerGruppen’s core values are the cornerstones of the 
Group’s corporate culture and provide important guidelines 
for managers and employees on how to treat one another and 
our customers. The ethical principles upon which the core val-
ues are based have provided the platform for our growth and 
work ever since the company was founded. Our employees are 
deeply imbued with our core values, and there is a constant 
focus on this in Sweden, Estonia, Lithuania, Latvia and Norway. 

Ever since the company was founded by Harald A. Møller 
in 1936, our core values have been a cornerstone of the 
company. After all these years, these values are still just as 
relevant and important to us. Ultimately it is about living up 
to founder Harald A. Møller’s eternally relevant motto: “Keep 
to the straight and narrow road”. 

CODE OF CONDUCT
In a world with increasingly rapid changes in terms of the risks 
we face, we recognise the need for increased focus on com-
pliance – i.e. ensuring that all our activities are in accordance 
with laws, regulations and ethical guidelines. MøllerGruppen 
developed its own Code of Conduct in 2015, which was im-
plemented in the organisation in the first half of 2016. In the 
three Baltic countries, an e-learning programme was carried 
out covering all aspects of the Code of Conduct and that all 
the employees confirmed they had completed.  In Norway 
and Sweden, a PowerPoint presentation was prepared with 
various dilemmas that were reviewed and discussed in small 
groups in the various units.  A whistleblowing channel was 
also established whereby employees can report unaccept-
able circumstances confidentially to a third party (Deloitte).  

In 2016, some ten unacceptable circumstances with differ-
ing degrees of severity were reported. When a matter is re-
ported, our internal whistleblowing unit shall start processing 
the matter immediately and at the latest within three working 
days. It is a priority for us that no-one should be afraid to re-
port any unacceptable circumstances in MøllerGruppen. If a 
matter is reported non-anonymously, the whistleblower gets 
feedback on the case and is informed on an ongoing basis 
about the treatment of the matter.

HEALTH AND SAFETY
Systematic work on occupational health, safety and the work-
ing environment is a governmental requirement. The purpose 
of this work is make sure that the working methods used at 
all levels in MøllerGruppen ensure that health, safety and the 
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Norway 2 949 2 494 85% 38 455 15% 40

Sweden 653 561 86% 37 92 14% 37

Baltics 672 518 77% 35 154 23% 35
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working environment are systematically assessed and taken 
into account in the planning, facilitating and executing of work. 
In this way, health and safety work is also a tool for improv-
ing the Group’s results by preventing injuries and sickness 
absence and improving the quality of the work that is done. 

MøllerGruppen works specifically and systematically to re-
duce both short-term and long-term sickness absence and 
to avoid injuries. It is also important to emphasise the positive 
aspects of the company’s health and safety work – a good 
working environment benefits all the employees. 

In 2016, 28 instances of personal injury were reported in 
the companies Møller Bil and Harald A. Møller AS, none of 
which were serious. There were no accidents or instances 
of damage to property.

MøllerGruppen has established a body of procedures that 
forms a practical health and safety tool in the day-to-day work 
of managers, safety representatives, working environment 
committees and, of course, all other employees. The various 
procedures describe the responsibilities of each employee 
and how individuals with a managerial responsibility for health 
and safety should proceed.

 
Preventive health protection
All our companies in Norway have an occupational health 
service (OHS) agreement, and our high-risk groups – me-
chanics, technicians, painters and panel beaters – are invited 
to undergo a health check every third year. In Oslo, Arsana AS 
provides occupational health services for all the risk groups 
in the region.  In addition to Arsana, MøllerGruppen has a 
special in-house health and safety adviser in the Group’s HR 
Department who is available to all the companies in Norway.

Follow-up of sickness absence
The occupational health service has worked on an individual, 
departmental and organisational level to help the companies 
with various challenges linked to sickness absence. The in-
house health and safety adviser has attached importance to 
close collaboration with employees’ doctors, the Norwegian 
Labour and Welfare Administration (NAV) and treatment insti-
tutions, as well as taking part in dialogue meetings arranged 
by the employer and NAV. 
•  65 people in MøllerGruppen, Møller Bil and Harald A. Møller 

were followed up by the in-house health and safety adviser, 
with interdisciplinary teamwork between the person on sick 
leave, the employer, doctors and NAV. Of these, 43 people 
have returned to work full-time or part-time, two have retired 
and 18 have left the company / started working elsewhere. 

•  The health and safety adviser participated in a total of 24 
dialogue meetings arranged by NAV. This is a high priority, 
to ensure the health and well-being of our employees and 
maintain a good working environment.   

•  Arrangements for pregnant employees: since the in-house 
health and safety adviser is a qualified midwife, we have 
striven to adapt work during pregnancy to prevent people 
having to take sick leave in cases where the OHS has been 
involved. 

Working environment committees (AMU)
Dealers in Greater Oslo comprise 13 businesses with more 
than 50 employees. Here each business has a working en-
vironment committee, and meetings are held roughly three 
times a year. Our in-house health and safety adviser attends 
all these meetings, not least to ensure transfer of experience 
from other dealers. This allows us to learn from one another’s 
health and safety challenges, follow-up of sickness absence, 
injuries and incidents, as well as providing an opportunity 
to spread information about changes in the Working Envi-
ronment Act and regulations. The health and safety adviser 
attended 42 working environment committee (AMU) meetings 
in 2016. A safety inspection is usually performed prior to meet-
ings of the working environment committee. The health and 
safety advisor participates in some of these. There is good 
awareness about health and safety issues and good collabo-
ration with the safety representatives and management.

Health and safety courses in Oslo
•  The occupational health and safety adviser has held four 

three-day basic training courses for safety representatives 
for a total of 23 employees. 

•  Seven first aid courses have been held for a total of 99 
employees.  

•  The occupational health and safety adviser in Oslo has 
taught all first-year apprentices in eastern Norway and Ber-
gen about occupational health and safety. 

2,270 employees at Møller Bil work 
in the following categories

Nybilsalg
322

Preparation 78
AutoArena 6

Admin 118
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•  In Bergen a total of four courses have been held on safe-
ty inspections, working environment committees and fol-
low-up of sickness absence. In addition, guidance has 
been provided on better internal collaboration in five de-
partments in the company.

External suppliers of health services
MøllerGruppen has engaged a psychologist and a psycho-
therapist who can quickly assist employees in connection with 
a variety of different challenges, as well as a general practi-
tioner who provides some 100 health checks for employees 
per year and also assists our in-house health and safety ad-
viser with professional medical advice. Some workplaces also 
offer massages and have a fitness room and/or instructor.

COMPANY DEMOCRACY
Møller Bil Norge’s works council (SU) held three meetings 
during the year and the group committee (KU) one meeting. 
The cooperation between trade union representatives and 
the management is characterised by openness and a shared 
vision in the vast majority of areas, and is therefore consid-
ered fruitful and useful by both parties. Several representa-
tives of Møller Bil have attended works council meetings to 
inform about measures that are being developed centrally in 
Møller Bil, and the owners – represented by Harald Møller – 
held a presentation at the group committee meeting. 

In Sweden, the employer’s duty to provide information and 
the trade unions’ right to negotiate are regulated by legislation 
such as the law regarding employee participation in the labour 
market. The duty to provide information means that Møller 
Bil Sverige has to keep the three trade unions with which the 
company has collective agreements continuously informed. 
The information provided should be about the financial and 
production-related development of the company and HR poli-
cy guidelines. The purpose is to provide employees with an op-
portunity to assess the current situation and future prospects.

No formal collaboration with employee representatives has 
been established in the Baltic States.  National regulations 
and practices here differ greatly from Norway and Sweden.

MANAGER DEVELOPMENT
Our Group has many operational units that to a great ex-
tent have to be run as independent profit centres. We have 
also developed well-functioning shared functions in some 
areas, but we recognise that we need strong, competent 
and self-motivated managers. Developing our managers and 
recruiting new ones is therefore a high-priority area.

MøllerGruppen has focused on developing its own man-
agers for almost 30 years. Internal recruitment and the trans-
fer of competence between companies, especially between 
importers and dealers, are important cornerstones of the 
company’s growth and development. Since our manager 
development programme started in 1989, around 700 man-
agers and potential managers have participated in one or 
more of our internal development programmes. 

In 2016 we had a total of five meetings for 20 participants 
in our Top Challenger Programme. We completed Manager-
CandidateProgramme no. 17 for a total of 21 participants in 
autumn 2016, and we started up both ManagerProgramme 
no. 20 in Norway for 19 participants and the leadership pro-
gramme “Engage” in the Baltic states for 12 middle manag-
ers. In addition, 25 managers are taking part in the compa-
ny’s senior executive programme.

Autumn 2016 also saw a major project to update all mid-
dle managers in the dealership network on MøllerGruppen’s 
Strategy 2020.  All the members of the corporate manage-
ment and the other management teams at Frysja participated 
in workshops held at all the dealerships in Norway to inform 
and prepare the operational leaders in the dealer network 
about MøllerGruppen’s work to meet an exciting and chal-
lenging future in the automotive industry.

The servicing school at Skedsmo has also added an extra 
day to its basic training, which is used to improve knowledge 
about servicing work.  The servicing school has eight instruc-
tors. It offers 54 set training modules of two to four days’ 
duration. It also provides training on our brands’ new models 
and model modifications. The basic training, which involves 
three modules and covers around 1,600 training man-days 
per year, is the obligatory ’gateway’ to all our training modules 
for new employees and apprentices. Several new e-learning 
modules have been added to the training.

(See also Employees, on page 18.)

Courses and training provided by the importer Harald A. Møller AS

Year TMD (Training Man Day)

2012 6 608

2013 5 122

2014 5 385

2015 5 652

2016 6 517

*TMD = Training Man-Day (for example: 10 participants on courses for 
two days equals 20 TMD).

COURSES AND TRAINING – NON-TECHNICAL 
TRAINING
In 2016 the following number of people achieved certification: 
32 customer advisers (workshop and bodywork), 8 parts 
staff, 12 guarantee coordinators, aftersales market managers 
and parts managers, 30 bodywork managers, a total of 61 
sales staff, all brands and 10 sales managers, all brands.

(See also Employees, on page 18)

THE MØLLER BIL SCHOOL
MøllerGruppen companies help invest in the talent of the 
future. The Møller Bil School is an accredited educational 
programme in which pupils from upper secondary schools 
sign an apprenticeship contract that normally lasts for 24 
months. During this time, the apprentice has to combine the 
theory he or she has learned at school with the practical 
knowledge necessary to take their apprenticeship exami-
nation and thereby become a skilled craftsman. The Møller 
Bil School follows an accredited curriculum for an automo-
tive technical education as a car mechanic, motor vehicle 
body repair technician, painter and spare parts adviser. At 
the Møller Bil School, we guarantee that the pupils will work 
using the latest techniques and equipment that are used to 
service and diagnose cars that are technical leaders in areas 
such as safety, the environment, etc. The Møller Bil School 
had 134 apprentices at year-end 2016 (admitted in 2015 and 
2016). The best students are offered a full-time job in Møller 
Bil once they have passed their apprentice examination.
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CO2 EMISSIONS 
In 2016 newly registered passenger cars in Norway emitted 
an average of 93 g of CO2/km. This is 7 g lower than in 2015. 
Average CO2 emissions have been reduced by 41 g/km in 
the past five years and by 84 g/km in the past ten years. 
Roughly 15% of the passenger cars registered in 2016 were 
zero-emissions vehicles. (Source: Norwegian Public Roads 
Administration). Half of all sales of Volkswagen passenger 
cars in 2016 were chargeable vehicles.

CO2 emissions all our brands, passenger cars.
Volkswagen 76 g CO2/km (67 g)
Audi 100 g CO2/km (110 g)
ŠKODA 124 g CO2/km (124 g)

Proportion of all registered new cars that are 
chargeable (electric and plug-in hybrids).
29% (22%)

Our brands
Volkswagen and Audi had a combined share of 45.6% of all 
sold chargeable hybrids. 

MØLLER BIL KLARGJØRING 
Møller Bil Klargjøring’s main task is to install equipment and 
technically and cosmetically prepare all the cars that arrive in 
the country. The company provides services to all 42 dealers 
in MøllerGruppen, as well as on the basis of major customer 

agreements via Harald A. Møller. In 2009, Møller Bil Klarg-
jøring invested in a new washing and finishing facility. Before 
this investment was made, around 180 litres of water were 
consumed per car. The water consumed per finished car is 
now 26 litres. In the same period, the consumption of chem-
icals has been reduced from an average of 1.9 litres per car 

to the current level of 0.8 litres. Møller Bil Klargjøring is also 
Eco-Lighthouse certified.  In 2016, they prepared 28,991 ve-
hicles, which constitutes an average of 126 vehicles per day 
with a lead time of 2 days.
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MøllerGruppen wants to be a resource on automotive and environmental issues and 
enable customers to make good environmental choices.

The environment
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WASTE – CAR RECOVERY – 2016
The Norwegian car industry has developed an excellent tool 
for the collection and recovery of scrapped cars through Au-
toretur. Autoretur recovered approximately 142,280 vehicles 
in 2016, and almost 98% of the vehicles’ weight is recovered 
through material or energy recovery and reuse of parts. It is 
the car importers who are responsible for the collection and 
recovery of scrapped vehicles.

The Autoretur scheme is intended to ensure the proper 
recovery and recycling of scrapped cars. It is important to 
reduce CO2 emissions and emissions of environmental tox-
ins, and to increase the reuse of metals, which are a limited 
resource. The Autoretur scheme reduced Norway’s emis-
sions of CO2 by 220,000 tonnes in 2016. This corresponds 
to roughly 1.5 billion vehicle kilometres, or roughly 98,000 
cars’ annual emissions, assuming an annual driving distance 
of 15,000 kilometres (ref. Vista Analysis’s environmental ac-
counts). Autoretur also ensures that heavy metals such as 
lead, cadmium and mercury are properly treated.

In 2016, 139,600 vehicles were scrapped in Norway. A 
total of 176,216 tonnes of waste was treated. Of this, 139,945 
tonnes underwent material recovery (79.4%), 22,039 tonnes 
underwent energy recovery (12.5%) and 10,150 tonnes were 
reused (5.8%). This means that 97.7% of the cars’ weight was 
recovered and only 2.3% was sent to waste disposal in 2016.

An average of approximately 867 kg of metals are recov-
ered from a single scrapped car. Autoretur is supervised by 
the Norwegian Environment Agency.

WASTE MANAGEMENT – NORWAY
MøllerGruppen has a waste management contract with 
Ragnsells. The figures show a positive development with a 
slight decline in the total volume of waste and a slightly higher 
source separation rate.

• Total volume of waste: 3,318 tonnes
• Source separation rate: 77%
• The largest fractions are:

SWEDEN
Temperature-corrected consumption statistics
14 dealers and repair centres
(KWh)

2013 2014 2015 2016

Consumption 7 238 297 7 404 067 7 097 426 7 356 043

Savings per year 116 216 -270 579 151 543

Accumulated savings 116 216 -154 363 -2 820

BALTICS
Temperature-corrected consumption statistics
10 dealers and repair centres
(KWh)

2013 2014 2015 2016

Consumption 4 692 979 4 598 998 4 190 013 4 238 904

Savings per year -93 981 -408 985 48 891

Accumulated savings -502 966 -454 075

NORWAY
Temperature-corrected consumption statistics
48 dealers and repair centres
(KWh)

2013 2014 2015 2016

Consumption 41 658 951 40 519 614 39 246 996 40 902 631

Savings per year -1 139 337 -1 272 618 1 655 634

Accumulated savings -1 139 337 -2 411 955 -756 321

ENERGY SAVING
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– Oil and fuel: 20%
– Metals: 19%
– Cardboard and paper: 14%
– Wood: 5%
– Plastic packaging: 4%

WASTE MANAGEMENT – SWEDEN
In Sweden, the source-separated waste resulted in reduced 
emissions of 444.7 tonnes of CO2 in 2016. The total volume 
of waste was 570.54 tonnes (566.77). For non-hazardous 
waste, the goal was to source separate 60%, while the result 
was actually 69.2% (60%). Some 93% of the employees have 
completed an interactive environmental course that is tailored 
to individual companies and organisations. The operations in 
Sweden have also trained between 375 and 400 aftersales 
market employees in chemical working environment risks.

WASTE MANAGEMENT – BALTIC STATES
The dealers in the Baltic States comply with the waste man-
agement and reporting requirements that apply in Lithua-
nia, Estonia and Latvia. This means that all dealers have 
procedures for waste management and have also signed 
agreements with companies that utilise this waste. This also 
applies to hazardous waste such as batteries and tyres. No 
centralised form of reporting for this has been established in 
MøllerGruppen yet.

ENERGY MANAGEMENT IN MØLLERGRUPPEN
Environmental protection is firmly anchored in the Group, with 
its long-standing commitment to energy efficiency measures, 
and significant investments have been made to reduce en-
ergy consumption. Møller Bil has now implemented active 
energy monitoring at all the dealerships in Norway, Sweden 
and the Baltics. In Norway there is energy monitoring in 55 
buildings, in Sweden 17 and in the Baltics 14.

Energy saving in Norway
The energy statistics for 2016 cover 48 dealers and repair 

centres. The figures show that the decrease in energy con-
sumption in the period 2013 to 2015 did not continue in 2016. 

17 out of 48 dealers achieved energy savings totalling ap-
proximately 700,000 kWh in 2016. However, this was more 
than counteracted by an increase of approximately 1,700,000 
kWh for nine dealers. Some of the increase in energy con-
sumption is attributable to increased activity at the repair 
centres, as many of these are in the group with increased 
consumption. In 2016 ENOVA granted extra funding for the 
energy mapping of problematic buildings, and the results will 
be used in the final stage of the major ENOVA project, which 
will be concluded in 2017.

Energy saving in Sweden
The energy statistics for 2016 cover 15 dealers in normal 
operation. The new facilities in Bro and Enköping are not 
included, due to poor data for these premises. In addition, 
parts of the facilities in Västerås and Örebro have been left 
out of the statistics due to remodelling.

Finally, the facility in Uppsala has not been included in the 
statistics for 2016 since it reported a very large increase in 
energy consumption in 2016. Particular challenges have been 
detected related to the heating and ventilation in the repairs 
part of the facility.

Most plants in Sweden seem to have reached an optimum 
level in terms of energy efficiency. Continued savings can be 
made, and energy-efficiency measures should be taken into 
account in connection with future investments in the facilities. 
The best solution for the facility in Uppsala is remodelling 
and adjustment of the automated ventilation system in the 
repairs workshop. 

Energy saving in the Baltics
The energy statistics cover 10 out of 14 dealers. The dealers 
in Vilnius have been left out of the statistics due to poor data. 
The facility in Krasta in Riga has been omitted this year due 
to remodelling.

Energy-saving measures in the Baltics have achieved good 

results using fairly simple means. The task going forwards 
will be to maintain these levels.
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As described on page 21 of this report, we have a responsi-
bility to prevent people being excluded and therefore work to 
ensure equality, diversity and inclusion in all our businesses. 
We want to ensure people who need it are offered a fresh 
start and thrive with us.

As part of our corporate social responsibility, we have cho-
sen to support and collaborate with organisations and initia-
tives that contribute to a more generous and better society. 
In 2016 we were involved in several activities in collaboration 
with the Church City Mission’s “Lønn som fortjent” work 
scheme and the Red Cross’s “Ferie for alle” holiday initiative, 
in addition to our common MENTOR project, SOS Children’s 
Villages’ work in the Baltics, and our ongoing support of the 
full-rigged ship Christian Radich.

LØNN SOM FORTJENT 
We have purchased 5,000 children’s books from the “Lønn 
som fortjent” (salary as deserved) work scheme. There are 
two types of books: an activity book for children in cars, 
which are handed out by some of our dealers, and a holiday 
book for children on a “Ferie for alle” holiday activity organ-
ised by the Red Cross.

FERIE FOR ALLE
The Red Cross’s “Ferie for alle” (holiday for all) scheme 
gives children and parents in a difficult financial situation the 
chance to have a week’s holiday during the school holidays 
at one of the Red Cross’s activity centres. In 2016 two Møller-
Gruppen employees took part in holidays under this scheme. 
The Group has supported this project since 2007.

MENTOR
MENTOR is a pilot project for young people aged 13–19 years 

who want someone to inspire and guide them. The project is 
being run by the Red Cross, and MøllerGruppen supports the 
project financially, has members on the steering committee, 
and provides mentors from among its own employees. The 
project runs from mid-year to mid-year. The first round in the 
period 2015–2016 had five mentors, and we are now in the 
second round, with four employees as mentors in this pilot 
project, which will end next year. There has been a total of 
approximately 50 link-ups (mentors + young person). The 
pilot project is a little over halfway through its planned project 
period and is meeting many of the targets set for it, according 
to a halfway evaluation conducted by the Red Cross. The 
project is also now on its way to other parts of the country.

SOS CHILDREN’S VILLAGES
MøllerGruppen is the main partner and supports SOS Chil-
dren’s Villages’ activities in the Baltic States and has also had 
a collaboration in Norway (since 2013). This collaboration is 
a natural extension of our core values and our desire to be a 
socially responsible and engaged company in Estonia, Latvia 
and Lithuania. Now the partnership in the Baltic States is 
more locally anchored and is tied more closely to the core 
operations. The aim is to generate greater enthusiasm for the 
scheme and higher use.

MØLLER BALTIC FOUNDATION
The aims of the Foundation are to help improve the hu-
manitarian situation, improve everyday lives, and promote 
increased learning for children and young people. Møller-
Gruppen supports individual projects in the three countries 
(started in 2014). Each year the Foundation supports a 
minimum of three projects, which can each receive finan-
cial support of up to EUR 15,000. Many applications are 

received, and the impression is that the support is going 
to good causes and initiatives and that the money benefits 
many people in need.

THE MØLLER BIL CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE’S 
FUND (SWEDEN)
The purpose of this fund is to support local initiatives that 
help improve living conditions, prevent loneliness and bully-
ing, and give children and young people the opportunity to 
do things with other children. The Children and Young Peo-
ple’s Fund supports up to 12 projects a year with a grant of 
up to SEK 100,000 each. The fund shall contribute to better 
everyday life in the communities where we operate (started in 
2015), and the scheme is now well known locally, and many 
applications are received. 

CHRISTIAN RADICH
MøllerGruppen has supported the ship and Norwegian mar-
itime heritage since 2000. This full-rigged ship is used on 17 
May for Constitution Day celebrations for Møller employees, 
and reduced rates are offered on selected cruises. The cur-
rent agreement expires in 2019.

Society
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Key figures
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KEY FIGURES 

(Amounts in NOK millions) 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Operating revenue 26 387 24 131 20 601 18 842 18 726
Profit 
Operating profit/(loss) 1 069 1 033 606 636 747
EBITDA 1 1 408 1 301 934 848 971
Profit/(loss) before tax 1 180 1 103 671 701 795
Profit for the year 912 824 511 511 575
Capital
Equity at 31 Dec. 2 934 2 624 2 324 2 373 2 190
Total assets at 31 Dec. 7 267 6 484 5 507 5 346 5 038
Equity ratio 40,4 40,5 42,2 44,4 43,5
Profitability
Return on equity in % 2 32,8 33,3 21,8 22,4 26,3
Return on total assets in % 3 17,2 18,4 12,4 14,2 16,9
Number of employees
Number of employees 4 274 4 107 3 926 3 771 3 664
Total payroll and personnel costs 2 616 2 457 2 310 1 998 1 882

1) Including results in associated companies (AC)
2) Return on equity: profit for the year as a percentage of average equity.

3) Return on total assets: the result before tax plus financial costs as a percentage of average total assets.
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GRI

MøllerGruppen has reported on its sustainability performance 
in 2016 on the basis of the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) 
template. The GRI indicators that MøllerGruppen reports on, 
in whole or in part, are presented in the GRI index below 
with reference to where more detailed information about the 
specific indicator can be found. This report has not been 
externally verified. 

Starting from next year’s report, MøllerGruppen plans to re-
port according to GRI’s G4, Core level.

GENERAL INFORMATION

GRI indicator Description MøllerGruppen’s reporting  Reporting level

Strategy and analysis 

G4-1 Statement from the CEO p. 5–7

Organisational profile 

G4-3 Name of the organisation p. 3

G4-4 Primary products, and/or services p. 3 and 9

G4-5 Location of the organisation’s headquarters Frysjaveien 31, NO-0884 Oslo, Norway.

G4-6 Number of countries where the organisation operates p. 3 and 9

G4-7 Nature of ownership and legal form p. 26 and 75

G4-8 Markets served (geographic breakdown, sectors served and types of customers / beneficiaries) p. 9

G4-9 Scale of the organisation p. 2 
See also the financial statements for 2016.

G4-10 Total number of employees by employment type, employment contract, and region, broken down by gender p. 66 Partially reported 

G4-11 Percentage of total employees covered by collective bargaining agreements Not reported 

G4-12 Description of the organisation’s supply chain Not reported

G4-13 Significant changes during the reporting period regarding size, structure, ownership, etc.

G4-14 Description of whether and how the precautionary approach or principle is addressed by the organisation p. 20

G4-15 Externally developed economic, environmental and social charters, principles, or other initiatives to which the organisati-
on subscribes or which it endorses 

p. 21 

G4-16 Memberships of associations and national or international advocacy organisations in which the organisation holds a 
position on the governance body, participates in projects or committees, or provides substantive funding 

p. 72
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Identified material aspects and boundaries 

G4-17 List of all entities included in the organisation’s consolidated financial statements or equivalent documents p. 3 
See also the financial statements for 2016.

G4-18 Description of process for defining the report content and the aspect boundaries and implementation of the reporting 
principles for defining report content 

p. 18

G4-19 List of all the material aspects identified in the process for defining report content p. 18

G4-20 Report on the aspect boundary within the organisation Not reported 

G4-21 Report on the aspect boundary outside the organisation Not reported 

G4-22 Any restatements of information provided in previous reports None

G4-23 Significant changes from previous reporting periods in the scope and aspect boundaries or measurement methods 
applied in the report 

None

Stakeholder engagement 

G4-24 Stakeholder groups engaged by the organisation p. 18

G4-25 Description of the basis for identification and selection of stakeholders with whom to engage p. 18 Partially reported 

G4-26 Approach to stakeholder engagement, including frequency of engagement by type and by stakeholder group p. 18 Partially reported 

G4-27 Key topics and concerns that have been raised through stakeholder engagement and the company’s response p. 18 Partially reported 

Report profile 

G4-28 Reporting period 2016

G4-29 Date of most recent previous report (if any) April 2016 

G4-30 Reporting cycle (annual, biennial, etc.) Annual 

G4-31 Contact point for questions regarding the report or its contents p. 18. paul.hegna@moller.no 

G4-32 The ’in accordance’ option the organisation has chosen and GRI content index for the chosen option p. 74 Partially reported 

G4-33 Policy and current practice with regard to seeking external assurance for the report p. 74

Governance

G4-34 The governance structure of the organisation, including committees of the highest governance body responsible for 
decision-making on economic, environmental and social impacts

p. 26

Ethics and integrity 

G4-56 The organisation’s values, principles, standards and norms of behaviour p. 66
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SPECIFIC STANDARD DISCLOSURES

GRI  
indicator

Description MøllerGruppen’s reporting Partial reporting

ECONOMIC

Economic performance 

G4-EC1 Direct economic value generated and distributed See the income statement for 2016, p. 32

G4-EC3 Coverage of the organisation’s pension obligations Note 8 to the financial statements, p. 43

G4-EC8 Examples of initiatives in the local community and positive indirect economic impacts the organisation has p. 21 and p. 72

ENVIRONMENTAL

Energy 

G4-EN3 Energy consumption within the organisation p. 70 Partially reported 

G4-EN6 Reduction of energy consumption p. 70–71 Partially reported 

Emissions

G4-EN19 Reduction of CO2 emissions p. 69–71 Partially reported

Effluents and 
waste

G4-EN23 Total weight of waste by type and disposal method p. 70–71 Partially reported

Products and services 

G4-EN27 Impact mitigation of environmental impacts of products and services p. 69

Compliance

G4-EN29 Significant 
violations of environ-
mental laws and 
regulations

No fines during the reporting period

Labour practices 

G4-LA1 Number of employees and employee turnover p. 19 and 29 Partially reported

Occupational health and safety 

G4-LA6 Rates of injury, occupational diseases, lost days, and absenteeism, and number of work-related fatalities by region and 
by gender

p. 67 Partially reported  

Training and education 

G4-LA9 Average hours of training per year per employee by gender, and by employee category p. 68 Partially reported 

G4-LA10 Programmes for skills management and lifelong learning p. 19 and 68 Partially reported 
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G4-LA11 Percentage of employees receiving regular performance and career development reviews, by gender and by employee 
category 

p. 66 – All employees shall have an performance assess-
ment interview each year

Partially reported

SOCIETY

Ethics and anti-corruption  

G4-SO4 Communication and training on anti-corruption policies and procedures p. 66 Partially reported  

G4-SO5 Confirmed incidents of corruption None

G4-SO7 Any violations of anti-competitive, anti-trust and monopoly legislation, etc. None

G4-SO8 Compliance with anti-corruption and competition laws No legal actions during the reporting period

Grievance mechanisms for impacts on society   

G4-SO11 Number of grievances about impacts on society filed, addressed, and resolved through formal grievance mechanisms p. 66 Partially reported

PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY 

Product and service labelling  

G4-PR5 Results of surveys measuring customer satisfaction p. 2, 12, 15 Partially reported 

G4-PR7 Incidents of non-compliance with regulations and voluntary codes concerning marketing communications No incidents in the reporting period
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 MØLLERGRUPPEN AS (PARENT COMPANY)  
Møller Synergi AS    
     
Harald A. Møller AS    
SE Moller Baltic Import   
     
Møller Bil AS (holding company)  
 
Møller Bil Øst AS   
Møller Bil Vest AS   
Møller Bil Molde AS   
Møller Bil Jessheim AS   
Møller Bil Bergen AS   
Møller Bil Ensjø AS   
Møller Bil Follo AS   
Møller Bil Oppland AS   
Møller Bil Haugesund AS   
Møller Bil Hedmark AS   
Møller Bil Romerike AS   
Møller Bil Sør-Rogaland AS   
Møller Bil Trondheim AS   
Møller Bil Orkdal AS   
Bilsenteret Bjugn AS   
Møller Bil Vestfold AS   
Møller Bil Ålesund AS   
Møller BilPartner AS   
Møller Bil Klargjøring AS   
AutoArena AS   
Orkdal Bil Eiendom AS   
     
 

Møller Auto Baltic AS (holding company) 
SIA Moller Auto Latvia   
SIA Moller Auto Krasta    
SIA Moller Auto Ventspils    
SIA Moller Auto   
UAB Moller Auto   
UAB Moller Auto Keturi Ziedai   
UAB Moller Auto Alytus   
Moller Auto Tallinn OÜ   
Moller Auto Pärnu OÜ   
Moller Auto Viru OÜ   
Moller Auto Viljandi OÜ   

Møller Bil Holding AB (holding company) 
Møller Bil Sverige AB   
Møller Bil Enköping AB

   
     

ASSOCIATED COMPANIES    
Volkswagen Møller BilFinans AS (TS)   
UAB Baltic Auto (TS)   
     
        
 

Companies in MøllerGruppen 
at 31 December 2016           
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MØLLERGRUPPEN
Frysjaveien 31b  
Postboks 6671 Etterstad
NO-0609 Oslo
Switchboard: (+47) 24033300
www.moller.no
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MØLLERGRUPPEN AS (parent company)

Harald A. Møller AS

SE Moller Baltic Import

Møller Bil AS (holding company)
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